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The Technology Innovation Agency (TIA) is an 
initiative of the Department of Science and 
Technology (DST) established in terms of the 
Technology Innovation Agency Act, 2008 (Act 
No 26 of 2008). TIA aims to de-risk technology 
development and facilitate the adoption and 
commercialisation of technological innovations 
into the market in collaboration with a network 
of partners. The Agency serves to bridge 
the “innovation chasm” that exists between 
scientific research activities that yield new 
ideas and the successful introduction of 
products and services emanating from those 
ideas into the market to ultimately benefit the 
broader society.

We provide various funding schemes and 
programmes to support innovators with viable 
ideas from proof of concept to technology 
demonstration and pre-commercialisation. 

Legislative mandate 

The mandate of TIA is to support the State 
in stimulating and intensifying technological 
innovation in order to improve economic 
growth and the quality of life of all South 
Africans by developing and exploiting 
technological innovations. TIA’s Executive 
Authority is the Minister of the Department 
of Science and Technology.

Vision

To be a world-class innovation agency 
that supports and enables technological 
innovation to achieve socio-economic 
benefits for the country.

Mission

To support technology innovators in unlocking 
South Africa’s global competitiveness and to 
deliver socio-economic value.

Shared values

Teamwork 
“Together we can do more”. Fostering 
teamwork creates a TIA work culture that 
values collaboration and co-operation.

Professionalism
We conduct our business and interact with 
stakeholders as well as internal engagements 
in a professional manner. 

Excellence
We consistently deliver exceptionally high 
standards of work and performance to our 
stakeholders.

Integrity
We live out of honesty of purpose and conduct 
in what we do.

Transparency
We engage in inclusive, open communication 
and will hold all our people accountable for 
their performance and conduct.

Strategic objectives

TIA aims to use South Africa’s science and 
technology base to develop new industries, 
create sustainable jobs and help build a 
knowledge-based diversified economy that 
is able to address global challenges. 

Corporate Profile
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Our strategic objectives are to:

• Stimulate the development and 
 demonstration of technology-based 
 products and processes

• Support the commercialisation 
 of technology innovations

• Develop an internal environment within 
 TIA to successfully execute its strategy

• Facilitate the development of innovation 
 skills to support technology innovation 
 and commercialisation

TIA bridging the technology innovation gap.
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“The Board ended the year 2013/14 on 
an encouraging note”...

Chairperson’s Overview

Section 2
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Chairperson’s Overview

The report of the Ministerial Review therefore 
provided much-needed guidance for the 
Board as it collaborated with TIA Executives 
and the Shareholder clarifying TIA’s strategic 
positioning and value proposition to the NSI. 
To this end, we are pleased that a clear, 
focused and renewed vision and strategic 
focus for the organisation was adopted by the 
Board. The full articulation of this vision and 
strategic focus will form part of TIA’s strategic 
plan for the years 2015 to 2020. 

As part of the strategic repositioning of the 
Agency, we are taking an “ecosystem view” in 
defining its role. Our vision is of a TIA that is a 
connector between industry, small medium and 
micro enterprises (SMMEs), science councils, 
universities and other NSI actors in order to 
coordinate and drive the creation of relevant 
innovation for the economy. 

The role of TIA as an active funder that de-
risks technologies and progresses innovative 
ideas from proof of concept to a technology 
development stage is confirmed in our new 
vision. In addition, TIA is envisaged to be a 
facilitator that links up innovators with market-
ready technologies with funders who are 
positioned at the late stage of the innovation 
value chain. The role of TIA as a service 
provider to innovators so as to reduce their 

The Board of the Technology Innovation 
Agency, which assumed office on 2 May 
2013, started its term with a focus on three 
overarching priorities, namely the clarification 
of TIA strategy, addressing the gaps in 
governance within the organisation, and 
delivering on agreed-upon objectives and 
performance targets. 

The Board ended the year 2013/14 on an 
encouraging note in that we have now defined 
the foundations for the strategic positioning of 
TIA within our national innovation ecosystem.

Despite the remaining challenges, we are 
confident that with the unwavering support 
we enjoy from the Shareholder, the depth of 
experience and skill residing in the Board, 
the interim leadership we have installed, 
new executive leadership whom we are in 
the process of recruiting, the support of 
our stakeholders and of all TIA staff, the 
organisation is well poised to make a significant 
contribution to our country’s economic and 
social development as envisaged in 
its mandate.

Strategic positioning of the 
agency in the national system 
of innovation

The Ministerial Review between 15 and 
20 March 2013, commissioned by the 
former Honourable Minister of Science and 
Technology, Mr Derek Hanekom, through 
which stakeholders gave inputs and comments 
on the strategic positioning and effectiveness 
of TIA, confirmed the need for and importance 
of TIA’s existence in our National System of 
Innovation (NSI). 

Ms Khungeka Njobe
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innovation costs and barriers to accessing 
expensive high-end skills and equipment 
is also confirmed in our vision as critical in 
enabling a productive innovation ecosystem. 
In order to achieve this vision and strategic 
focus, our organisational resources including 
capabilities, competencies and skills at the 
very least must be realigned, and at best 
significantly strengthened.

This endeavour forms part of the 2014/15 
financial year activities. The financial resources 
required for TIA to play a significant and 
meaningful role as defined in our new focus 
remain a critical part of our engagement with 
the Shareholder during the 2014/15 financial 
year. 

Governance 

During the reporting year, the Board devoted 
a significant amount of its efforts to matters 
relating to strengthening governance and 
fostering compliance with key and relevant 
statutes such as the Technology Innovation 
Agency Act (Act No 26 of 2008) and the Public 
Finance Management Act (Act No 1 of 1999) 
(PFMA). 

Following receipt of allegations against the 
former CEO and other officers of the Agency, 
a forensic investigation was conducted 
and concluded during the reporting year. 
Disciplinary action was initiated against the 
then CEO, CFO and other senior managers. 
We have disclosed all the relevant details as 
required as part of this Annual Report.
The gaps identified and flowing from the 
forensic investigation have put a spotlight on 
ensuring that the organisation’s policies and 

procedures are complemented by a culture 
characterised by leadership integrity as well as 
an organisational discipline that fosters good 
corporate governance. 

There is no short cut to this and the Board will 
continue to be vigilant in the execution of its 
duties in this regard. 

Our performance 

The Agency continued throughout the year to 
support the development of new technologies 
and received much interest in risk funding 
and technical support from innovative South 
Africans. In the year under review a total of 103 
applications worth R1,5 billion were assessed 
for funding, of which over 42% were in the 
energy and health sectors. Over R376 million 
was disbursed for project-related funding and 
innovation skills development.  

Of the amount disbursed, R345 million was for 
project grants and R31 million was for loans 
and equity transactions. This represents an 
increase of 6% for project grants and a 56% 
increase for loans and equity compared with 
the previous financial year.
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It is therefore prudent and essential to 
develop strategic relationship management 
as a core competence of the organisation. 
These relationships should be developed, 
cultivated and managed so that they are 
mutually beneficial to all parties involved. 
More importantly they should be beneficial 
in reaching the goals of the national system 
of innovation. 

Furthermore, our strategic relationship 
management approach should adopt a global 
perspective, as indeed our national innovation 
capability is about sharpening our national 
competitiveness. To this end, during the
reporting year we had the opportunity to 
engage with and participate in high-level 
cooperation meetings facilitated by our 
Shareholder Department, the Department 
of Science and Technology, which involved 
the Centre for the Development of Industrial 
Technology (CDTI) of Spain and the Malaysian 

Our stakeholders, partners 
and customers

The success of TIA strongly hinges on
constructive engagement with our stakeholders 
across the NSI, on mutually beneficial strategic 
partnerships locally and abroad, and on 
sound customer relationships. The Ministerial 
Review Report afforded us an opportunity 
to incorporate the views and the voice of our 
stakeholders. Indeed, we are encouraged by 
the reinforcement of the TIA mandate through 
that process. More, however, needs to be 
done to enhance the trust between TIA and 
its stakeholders, and our focus in the new 
financial year will be to map out and implement 
a strategy that actively engages
 those stakeholders.

The mandate of TIA as prescribed in the 
TIA Act requires partnerships to achieve its 
strategic objectives. 

Chairperson’s Overview
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Technology Development Cooperation (MTDC) 
of Malaysia. The expansion of our international 
partnerships and the promotion of our national 
innovation activities internationally remain 
important and require more attention. 

The Board and Executives will continue to 
focus on the expansion and improvement of the 
quality of all of our strategic relationships.

A customer-centric approach is a core strategy 
in the new focus of the Agency. Our focus in 
2014/15 will be on embarking on a journey 
that aims to improve the organisation’s pre-
investment customer processes and our 
internal decision-making processes as well as 
on enhancing post-investment management 
support activities. 

Acknowledgements
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to the success of the TIA, as well as the 
Director General, Dr Phil Mjwara and officials 
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advancing the mandate of the Agency during 
what was a challenging and yet still a rewarding 
year. To my fellow Board members, who have 
made an immense contribution in steering 
the organisation towards its new focus and 
who have shown extraordinary dedication 
and commitment to TIA, I express my deep 
gratitude.

On behalf of the Board, I extend our 
appreciation to the TIA Executives, who for 
the most part of the year were led by the 
Acting CEO, Mr Mkhululi Mazibuko, for their 
best efforts in keeping TIA steady during what 
was undoubtedly a challenging period. Last but 
not least, the Board is grateful to all of the TIA 
staff for their contributions to, patience with 
and support of the organisation during the 
reporting year.

As we usher in a new financial year and the 
new term of a new administration, we look 
forward to a productive and collaborative 
relationship with our Shareholder under the 
political leadership of the Honourable Minister 
Mrs Naledi Pandor.

Ms Khungeka njobe
chairperson of the Board

Honourable Minister Naledi Phandor
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CEO’s Report

Section 3

“To my fellow executives and the entire TIA  
 staff, thank you for your efforts and 
 dedication in driving TIA forward and making 
 sure the Agency delivers on its mandate.”
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CEO’s Report

Presenting this year’s annual report represents 
a significant period and strategic shift in the 
existence of the Technology Innovation Agency.
The DST, Board and other role players were 
instrumental in repositioning TIA to be at 
the forefront in supporting and accelerating 
technological innovations in South Africa. The 
renewed focus is aimed at carving out TIA’s 
position in the market as an Agency whose funding 
instruments enable innovators to come through 
the National System of Innovation (NSI) to develop 
their technology innovations. This has ushered in 
a new impetus within the organisation to optimise 
its resources in contributing to socio-economic 
transformation.

Financial performance

The Agency received an allocation from the 
Medium Term Expenditure Framework (MTEF) 
totalling R521 million made up of R481 million from 
the DST and an additional amount of R40 million 
for the economic competitiveness programme for 
the Technology Stations. 

Project grant funding increased by 10% from the 
last financial year. Initiatives are currently being 
undertaken to contain operating costs and to 
increase project-related funding. This is in line with 
the strategic drive to optimise financial resources 
in a bid to generate greater value for all our 
stakeholders. 

Internal operations

Cost containment measures announced by the 
National Treasury in October 2014 were adopted 
throughout the organisation in a bid to reduce 
the administrative cost of doing business. To 
this end, the internal control policies of the 
organisation were reviewed to realign them and 
ensure congruency. This has resulted in a far more 
streamlined and improved control environment 
in which all employees are cost conscious in 
undertaking their duties. 

In order to deliver on the HR initiatives, there was 
a focus on improving HR systems which included 
revisiting administrative accuracy, and consistency 
in document and data management. This was 
done through automating processes such as 
performance management, leave management, 
organisational structure management and 
electronic management of key employee 
documents. 

During the year under review, the Agency saw 
staff turnover decrease from about 20% in the 
previous financial year to about 5.5%, representing 
a significant shift from the historical trends at the 
time of the establishment of the Agency. This is a 
positive sign that key skills are being retained 
making continuity possible.

The revision of the Annual Performance Plan during 
the financial year to align with the new strategic 
focus as informed by the outcome of the Ministerial 
Review Report and the International Benchmarking 
Study, affected the achievement of the skills 
development targets.

New partnerships

TIA has established a Seed Funding programme 
as a solution that will assist universities in meeting 
bridging finance requirements to translate 
university research outputs into fundable ideas for 
commercialisation. 

Mr Mkhululi Mazibuko
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There was an overwhelming response to the 
programme with a total of 108 projects worth 
R50,7 million considered of which only R26 million 
could be disbursed during the financial year due 
to budget allocations. 

The Agency implemented strategic initiatives 
with various provincial development agencies 
and selected provincial incubators. We are 
jointly implementing a programme that aims to 
foster entrepreneurship and contribute to the 
establishment of innovation / knowledge-based 
companies in various provinces that respond to 
provincial priorities and needs through access to 
risk funding schemes.

TIA partnered with Sasol as the lead sponsors of 
South Africa’s first national online business idea 
competition aimed specifically at inventors and 
innovators, the Step Up Technology Competition. 
Close to 400 entries were received and the 
winners were announced on 21 November 2013. 
The project has since partnered with a range of 
venture capital funds and entrepreneur support 
organisations, as well as Microsoft, the Innovation 
Hub, the Small Enterprise Development Agency, 
the SA Innovation Network and others. 

In a bid to develop innovation skills that bolster 
the national skills base and coordinate knowledge 
transfer within the innovation value chain the 
Agency obtained funding up to R4 million from the 
Energy and Water Sector Education and Training 
Authority (EWSETA) that enabled 60 interns to be 
successfully placed in industry.

Plans for the year

In pursuance of the revised strategy, over the next 
year the Agency will seek to strengthen its role 
as an active funder, connector and facilitator for 
technology development in the NSI by using its 
funding to establish connections between proven 
concepts and industry-led programmes. 

A more robust project portfolio and post 
investment approach will be undertaken to 
support funded projects and further their 
progress along the innovation value chain. 
Within the constraints of a reduced MTEF 
allocation in the new financial year, developing 
internal capabilities will be a key drive of 
management to ensure that market needs are 
addressed through initiating programmes that 
are client-centric. 

In the new financial year, completion of the
Organisational Design and Change 
Management that will form a key element 
of the activities of the organisation to ensure 
that it is ready to embrace the new strategy. 
The Agency will also seek to fill critical senior 
positions to allow for the stability and focus 
of the organisation going forward.

Acknowledgements

I wish to express my deepest gratitude to 
the TIA Board under the leadership of Ms 
Khungeka Njobe for the support they have 
provided over the last financial year. The 
unwavering support from the Honourable 
Minister Derek Hanekom, Deputy Minister 
Masutha, Director General Dr Phil Mjwara 
and all the officials within the Department 
of Science and Technology. To my fellow 
executives and the entire TIA staff, thank you 
for your efforts and dedication in driving TIA 
forward and making sure the Agency delivers 
on its mandate.

Mr Mkhululi Mazibuko
acting ceo
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Highlights for the year

Section 4

In the year under review, over R376 
million was disbursed for project related 
funding expenditure and innovation skills 
development.
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Highlights for 
the year

25 
New 

Investments

550 
SMME 

Products

36 
Products 

Developed

1904 
SMMEs 
Assisted

R376m 
Disbursed

70 
Seed Fund 

Projects 
Disbursed

103 
Applications 

received

43 
youth Projects 
receiving TIA 

support

8 
Technologies 

Commercialised

Highlights for the year

FiGure 1: Summary of highlights
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In the year under review, over R376 million 
was disbursed for project related funding 
to expenditure and innovation skills 
development. Of this amount R345 million 
was disbursed for project grants and R31 
million for loans and equity transactions. 
This represents an increase of 6% for 
project grants and 56% for loans and equity 
compared with the previous financial year. 

A total of R74,4 million was leveraged from 
other funders during the financial year, up 
from R65,5 million in the previous financial 
year. 

A total of 36 innovative products were 
developed and eight technologies were 
commercialised and adopted by the market. 
We pride ourselves on supporting such 
technologies as we are of the view that 
these will contribute significantly to the 
transformation of the economic landscape 
of the country by enhancing competitiveness 
and productivity in local industries.

Since its inception the Agency has continued 
to deliver on its objectives in stimulating the 
knowledge economy. The past three years 
were the building blocks for setting the 
Agency’s tactical direction. 

From 2010 to date the cumulative 
performance of the organisation has been 
as follows:

• R1.2 billion has been disbursed for project
 contracts and grants 

• Over 6 800 SMMEs were supported through 
 the Technology Stations Programme 

• Ninety-eight products, processes and 
 services were developed from funded 
 projects 

• Eighteen investments were 
 commercialised

• Third party funds leveraged total 
 R563,9 million

• Five hundred and one interns have 
 undertaken training programmes



20An initiative of the Department of Science and Technology

Annual Report

Taking 
technology 
innovation 

further



21An initiative of the Department of Science and Technology

Background
Portfolio Performance
TIA’s Role with highlights

Executive Overview

Section 5



22An initiative of the Department of Science and Technology

90,000,000.00

80,000,000.00

70,000,000.00

60,000,000.00

50,000,000.00

40,000,000.00        

30,000,000.00

20,000,000.00

10,000,000.00
 TRL 2 TRL 3 TRL 4 TR L5 TRL 6 TRL 7 TRL 8

Executive Overview

FuNdEr who directly invests in technology 
ideas; the FAcILITATOr who works through 
other stakeholders to ensure adoption and 
commercialisation of technology innovations; 
and the SErVIcE PrOVIdEr who provides 
access to high-end skills and equipment 
through programmes that enable a culture of 
innovation. These roles are discussed below, 
with examples of projects to illustrate some of 
the highlights of activities during the 2013/14 
financial year.

TIA’s active project portfolio stood at 
R1,2 billion in the previous financial year. 
We have increased the project portfolio with 
new projects worth about R259,7 million 
including R26 million and R35 million disbursed 
to universities and regional development 
agencies respectively. Most of the projects 
approved in the 2013/2014 financial year were 
at TRL 3 AND TRL 4. 

TIA’s main focus is on technology development 
from the proof of concept to technology 
development stage. In order to fulfill its 
mandate, TIA funds technologies from proof of 
concept stage, technology readiness level three 
(TRL3), through technology development (TRL 
4-7) and supporting the pre-commercialisation 
stage (TRL8). During technology development, 
TIA provides technology development funding 
and at the pre-commercialisation stage. 

TIA’s role is to facilitate the commercialisation 
of technology already developed. This 
model allows for a seamless progression 
of technologies along the innovation value 
chain within a single entity, with stakeholders 
fully benefiting from TIA‘s value creation 
initiatives. TIA has positioned itself to 
support technology innovations in four 
different roles in the innovation value chain: 
the cONNEcTOr who uses networks to 
link and connect opportunities; the AcTIVE 

Breakdown in the 2013/2014 financial year

•  TRL 1 :- basic research  •  TRL 2 :- concept formulation  •  TRL 3 :- proof of concept  •  TRL 4 :- lab demonstration
•  TRL 5 :- lab scale validation  •  TRL 6 :- prototype demonstration  •  TRL 7 :- pilot system demonstrated  
•  TRL 8 :- system incorporated in commercial design  •  TRL 9 :- proven system ready for full commercial deployment

FIGURE 2: New projects approved in the 2013/2014 financial year
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A total amount of R376,9 million was disbursed 
during the financial year. The main contributors 
were biotechnology at R68 million, industrial 
sectors at R56 million, technology platforms 
at R56 million and technology stations at 
R104 million.

 cONNEcTOr rOLE

In this role, TIA catalyses partnerships between 
SMMEs, industries, universities and science 
councils to develop an enabling environment 
that supports sector-specific innovations for 
global competitiveness.

The main instruments employed were the Seed 
Fund Programme and Technology Innovation 
Programmes (TIPS). The purpose of TIPs is to 
facilitate greater collaboration within an existing 
industry value chain by leveraging the strengths 
of respective collaborating partners to develop 
technology solutions that address a social 
and/or economic need. TIA currently has two 

established programmes: The Animal Health 
Innovation Programme aims to revitalise 
animal vaccine manufacturing. An additional 
R4,2 million was disbursed during the year to 
bring the total funding to this initiative to 
R95 million. 

The uyilo E-Mobility Programme aims to 
accelerate support for local development 
and commercialisation of electromobility 
technologies to support the use of electric 
vehicles, as well as to facilitate development 
of scarce skills and support the development 
of enterprises that will contribute towards 
the creation of new high technology jobs. 
A total of R7.4 million has been disbursed 
to the programme since inception. During 
the reporting period, a pipeline of fifteen 
technology projects was developed, ranging 
from demonstration to applied research. This 
indicates a strong market interest in e-mobility 
technologies.

Summaries of the responses by universities to the Seed Fund.

FiGure 3: Seed Fund response

1 University
8 projects
R2.7m

4 Universities
38 projects
R14.4m

2 Universities
18 projects
R7.3m

4 Universities
24 projects
R10.m

3 Universities
13 projects
R5.3m

4 Universities
7 projects
R11.0m
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for technology innovation, TIA funding is able 
to foster better capacity for the development of 
products, processes and services that address 
needs in the market and thus demonstrate 
commercial potential. 

Intellectual property (IP) including patents, 
trademarks and plant breeders’ rights not only 
contribute greatly to improving the capacity 
of South Africa’s innovation system, but also 
to enhancing the competitiveness of local 
technologies and industries in global markets.

In the year under review a total of 86 
applications worth R1,3 billion were assessed 
for funding. The breakdown of the applications 
received in terms of amount, stage, geographic 
spread and type of applicant is given in 
FIgURE 4 below.

The Seed Fund was established in the last 
financial year to assist higher education 
institutions (HEIs) to bridge the gap between 
research and commercialisation. The main 
objective is to evaluate commercial potential 
and de-risk research outputs in order to 
increase the innovation pipeline for TIA and 
other funders.

The response from the universities to 
the Seed Fund was overwhelming with 
a total of 108 projects considered from 
18 universities representing six provinces and 
totalling more than R50 million. The budget for 
the fund was limited to R25 million so only half 
of the requests were accommodated in 2013/14 
as indicated on FIgURE 3.

 AcTIVE FuNdEr rOLE

TIA’s core objective is to support the 
development of technologies, products 
and services. As a result of sustained support 

FiGure 4: Breakdown of applications assessed

Executive Overview

Applications Assessed Number Value

Advanced Manufacturing 11 11%

Energy 22 42%
ICT 12 12%
Mining 6 6%
Health 20 19%
Industrial 9 6%
Agri-Biotech 6 4%
Total 86 r1,3 billion

Per Applicant

Entrepreneur 5%

SMME 24%
HEI 23%
Company 29%
Science Council 18%

Per Province

GP 61%

WC 24%

EC 2%
NW 5%
MP 1%
KZN 5%
FS 2%
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Turning coal waste into clean energy – Coalgae™

Key Success Project Highlights

The following examples are projects that have achieved significant milestones through TIA acting as an 
active funder. 

This technology is a patented process for 
designing and producing photo bioreactors 
to cost-effectively grow microalgae that are 
agglomerated with coal fines to produce coal 
briquettes under the trademark Coalgae™. 
These briquettes burn cleaner than regular coal 
and discard coal is used in their manufacture 
offering environmental management solutions 
that can be incorporated into renewable energy 
strategies. 

The project is currently conducting a feasibility 
study on the viability of a one-hectare 
demonstration plant and a 100 hectare 
commercial plant.

The coal briquettes could be produced and 
used by Eskom in their boilers thus reducing 
the national greenhouse gas (GHG) footprint 
given. Another promising application is 
the pyrolysis of Coalgae™ to produce bio 
crude oil which contains phenols, aromatic 
and polyaromatic hydrocarbons, alkanes, 
alkenes and fatty acids, ideal constituents for 
liquid fuels. Coal to liquid conversion is an 
established industrial process in South Africa 
through Sasol and substituting Coalgae™ for 
coal is ideal as an environmentally friendly 
option. 

Total project funding since inception is R24,4 
million and TIA is assisting to raise funds for the 
one-hectare demonstration plant.

the Micro-algae Biomass to energy Project falls under the Biofuels technology demonstration Programme 
funded by the department of Science and technology (dSt).
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Enhancing the fast consumer 
goods market – electronic price 
labelling system

Integrated Pricing Technologies (Pty) Ltd has 
successfully developed an electronic price 
labelling (EPL) system for use in retail stores. 
The key proposition is to reduce the cost of 
electronic price labelling systems, making 
them affordable for different retail stores. For 
retailers, the technology will enable dynamic 
pricing (for example, lunch hour pricing for 
product promotions) and optimal management 
of shelf life for fast moving goods. 

This system, with its key competitive 
advantage of significantly lowering the cost 
of electronic price labelling in retail stores 
has been patented in countries such as the 
USA and China. The global market for EPLs 
is estimated at R10 billion, with South Africa 
representing a market size of R123 million. This 
suggests that if Integrated Pricing Technologies 
(Pty) Ltd can expand into the global market, 
South Africa could benefit in terms of foreign 
exchange revenue and job creation. There 
are likely to be manufacturing and service 
jobs once an optimal production system has 
been established. Experience in the retail 
environment will yield more exciting results.

development of a continuous 
seed preparation system for 
sugar processing

The Department of Science and Technology 
(DST) proposed the establishment of a Centre 
of Competence (CoC) on sugarcane and TIA 
was tasked with establishing the body. This 
project is funded through DST ring-fenced 
funding from the Sugar Milling and Research 
Institute (SMRI) and the Tongaat Hulett 
Technology Engineering Group (TEG). TEG also 
plays the role of facilitating market access.

The production system uses insonation for 
nucleation in supersaturated sugar solutions. 
Repeatable parameters have been established 
and are applicable to factory conditions. 
The equipment for demonstration in factory 
conditions is now under construction and will 
be tested at the SMRI before the end of the 
current calendar year. 

The improvement in sugar processing will result 
in reduced production costs as the system is 
more energy efficient. The equipment can be 
used in both batch and continuous production 
systems. SMRI involvement will ensure easy 
adoption of the process by local players and 
Tongaat Hulett will give market access to 
players in the SADC region and abroad.

The total approved amount was R6,5 million 
and R5,7 million has been disbursed.

Executive Overview
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TIA funding was used to develop the 
technology and enabled the production 
of a demonstration unit which is ready 
for in-store trials. 

TIA has invested R15 million in the development 
of this unique South African innovative 
technology.

Stellenbosch Wind Energy 
Technologies (SWET)

This novel generator replaces the cumbersome 
gearboxes and electrical converters by relying 
on electrical machines to produce a direct drive 
system that is directly connected to the grid. 
At present the target market is small-scale 
wind generating systems with an output of 50 
kW and lower. If the technology is successful 
at this level, implementation at higher power 
levels will be investigated.

The core technology that has been developed 
is a slip synchronous permanent magnet 
generator (SSPMG).

After the first year of funding two working 
prototypes have been successfully installed, 
with a budget saving of 35%. The wind turbines 
have generated over 5000 kWh of energy.

Production of the SSPMG has created 
seven jobs, and this is expected to increase 
to around nine. The product will change 
lives (economically and socially) through 
the potential to create grid independent 
communities globally. Further product 
development will create IP that could be 
licensed to global partners.

TIA provided funding of R11.1 million to 
optimise certificate and commercialise a 15kW 
slip-synchronous permanent magnet (SSPMG) 
wind generator. 
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The first applications of the technology are 
temperature sensors. By 2008, initial prototypes 
of the PV modules were successfully developed 
and, parallel to this, new IP was developed 
in the area of printed silicon transistors. In 
December 2010, a spin-off company was 
formed, PST Sensors Pty (Ltd), co-owned 
by the inventors and UCT. PST has since 
then been able to attract commercial interest 
from the markets, with initial short-term joint 
development agreements having been finalised. 
This high technology start-up company is 
poised to make waves in the area of printed 
silicon. 

TIA funded the development of the technology 
that is now ready for market validation, and 
a strong IP portfolio consisting of 14 patent 
families (271 individual patents) with six 
families (69 individual patents) granted. It 
boasts the largest patent cache in UCT from a 
single research group. TIA, together with PST 
Sensors, continues to facilitate discussions with 
other funders to complete the transfer of the 
technology to the market and to assist in raising 
the much needed capital investment for the next 
industrialisation phase. The company currently 
employs five people.

From 2006 the project received funding 
of about R12,5 million.

Photovoltaic technology intellectual Property

Another key measure of the facilitator role is 
assisting with raising second round funding for 
investments. The major achievement was with 
Photovoltaic Technology Intellectual Property 
Pty (Ltd) (PTIP) where R120 million of second 
round funding was raised. In 2003, the then 
Innovation Fund invested circa R13 million to 

 FAcILITATOr rOLE

Technology innovation is inherently a high-
risk activity that requires a clearly defined and 
structured approach that ensures the right 
technologies are identified and supported until 
the risk is greatly reduced for other role players 
to provide follow-on investment directed at 
technology adoption and commercialisation 
for economic benefit. 

As a facilitator, TIA’s role is to attract 
and facilitate late-stage funding for 
the commercialisation of market ready 
technologies. During the year under review, 
eight products were commercialised, bringing 
the total to eighteen since 2011/12. 

Highlights

PSt Sensors 

This project, which originated from the 
University of Cape Town (UCT), set out to 
develop a low cost power source as a technical 
proof-of-concept for a printed 2W photovoltaic 
(PV) module produced on a sheet of A4 paper.

PST Sensors is the only company with proven 
technology to print silicon semiconductors at 
room temperature on any material including 
paper, using conventional printing methods. 

Executive Overview
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develop new materials and techniques for 
the production of thin solar devices at the 
University of Johannesburg (UJ), with Prof 
Vivian Alberts as the lead investigator. By 2004, 
1500 cm2 modules had been fabricated and in 
2005 PTIP was incorporated, at the time owned 
by the inventor and the UJ. This paved the way 
for an international technology licence granted 
to Bosch, Germany in 2007.

Currently, the facility employs 10 people. The 
immediate next step is to finalise outdoor tests 
on the modules and obtain certification before 
embarking on a marketing plan. In the medium 
to long term, PTIP is looking for commercial 
partners to license the technology and the 
process and have a fully operational production 
plant set up, and it is hoped that the South 
African government will be the first client for 
such a production plant.

In 2010 PTIP paid the first royalty fee to TIA 
of circa R2 million, following the conclusion 
of the international off-take licence. In 2011 
TIA approved second round funding of R20 
million to the PTIP to setup a 45 MW semi-
commercial thin film solar panel production 
facility to further advance the module’s 
conversion efficiency and improve the 
production methods to reduce waste coming 
off the plant. This second round TIA funding 
was backed by an initial R93 million equity 
co-funding from the Industrial Development 
Corporation (IDC). In 2013 IDC and UJ followed 
with more investment. PTIP was now at a stage 
where a 7 200cm2 module could be fabricated 
at their facilities. The facility was officially 
commissioned in January 2014, and has since 
been visited by the then Minister of Science 
and Technology, Derek Hanekom.

Future Fynbos

Future Fynbos is a privately owned breeding 
company focused on the selection and breeding 
of indigenous fynbos such as Leucadendron, 
Protea and Leucospermun for the cut flower and 
pot plant markets. Future Fynbos’s vision is to 
be always ahead of the competition in releasing 
to the market unique varieties with improved 
characteristics, which can be protected by 
registration of plant breeder’s rights (PBRs). 

In the 2013/14 financial year, Future Fynbos 
started shipping their first commercial harvest 
with 600 355 units sold in the local market and 
10 000 units sold in the European Union. This 
represents 5% of Future Fynbos’ total revenue 
from PBR registered and trademarked products.

TIA provided funding of R482 000 to Future 
Fynbos at a stage when the breeding work was 
complete and the company needed external 
financial support to protect IP it had generated 
by registering a trademark and plant breeder’s 
rights (PBRs) in South Africa and the EU.
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The product is being manufactured and sold 
successfully by a local trading company. Low 
volume production of the product has created 
two jobs, but that is expected to increase to 
around five should sales volumes increase. 
There is also potential to export the product. 
By helping to grade wool correctly the product 
will help to increase the income of wool 
farmers. Another advantage is that the product 
will also assist sheep farmers with breeding 
programmes to improve wool quality.

TIA invested R6,78 million with the funding 
targeted at developing the technology 
(R4,84 million) and commercialising the 
product (R1,93 million).

 SErVIcE PrOVIdEr rOLE 

TIA provides support to local innovation in 
the form of technical support for products, 
prototypes, diagnostics and drug development 
through its technology stations and platforms. 
These services are mostly located at 
universities and are targeted at supporting local 
SMMEs and supporting skills development. TIA 
has 18 Technology Stations and 8 Technology 
Platforms in its portfolio. These stations and 
platforms have state of the art equipment and 
highly skilled expertise to reduce barears of 
entry to the innovation industry.

Technology platforms 
programmes

The Technology Platforms Programme is 
instrumental in ensuring that public and private 
sector institutions and companies have access 
to world-class equipment, research facilities 
and cutting-edge research expertise. 

with this funding Future Fynbos was able to 
register the Ayoba® trademark in South Africa 
and the European Union. All their commercial 
varieties have now been registered under this 
name. South African PBRs were granted on 
3 March 2013 for three varieties, Cape Kiss 
(Ayoba® Kiss), Cape Sunset (Ayoba® Sun) and 
Lady Merel, while applications for European 
Union registration are still undergoing testing 
and evaluation.

revitalising our wool industry – 
The FibreLux device 

This inspiring innovation assists local wool 
farmers to assess wool quality more efficiently 
and rapidly. After six years of research, 
development and testing, an accurate tool that 
is affordable to small-scale farmers, which 
measures the diameter of wool, mohair and 
other animal fibres on-farm, is now available.
Another advantage is that the product will 
also assist sheep farmers with breeding 
programmes to improve wool quality. The 
FibreLux device is a portable, user-friendly, 
affordable and accurate meter that uses 
laser-based technology for the on-farm 
measurement of the diameter of wool, mohair 
and other animal fibres.

Executive Overview
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The Platforms ensure that resources that 
otherwise would be too expensive for a 
single entity are readily available to advance 
innovation.

A total of R69.5 million was disbursed by 
platforms in 2013/14 up from R55,7 million 
in 2012/13, representing a 25% increase 
and bringing the total to R170 million since 
inception.

During the year under review, TIA supported 
the acquisition of a 3 Tesla full body magnetic 
resonance imaging (MRI) scanner located at 
UCT. The acquisition of the scanner provides 
South Africa with a dedicated instrument 
for the development of new technologies to 
support a growing network of South African 
researchers and small enterprises. Important 
areas of work carried out using advanced 
MRI imaging techniques include studies of 
conditions prevalent in developing countries 
such as tuberculosis, human immunodeficiency 
virus (HIV) and related diseases of the 
human body.

A nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) 
spectrometer was purchased for the National 
Metabolomics Platform (NMP) at North West 
University (NWU). This is the only NMR of 
its kind in South Africa, providing analysis of 
biological material as applied in the health 
sciences. Use of this equipment in a range 
of applications expands the state-of-the-art 
technology of the Platform into the upper 15% 
bracket internationally.

Both facilities at UCT and NWU provide 
superior human capacity development 
through training of Masters and PhD students 
in addition to specialised training courses 
in advanced MRI and NMR spectrometry 
respectively. 

TIA’s partnership with universities ensures 
that there is continuous development of local 
human capacity at the highest level using 
the most advanced equipment, facilities and 
technology development opportunities.

The role of the Technology Platforms spans 
the early to mid-stages of the innovation 
value chain; from identifying new ideas to 
turning them into technology development 
opportunities that can be deployed in industry 
and business.

TEcHNOLOGy PLATFOrMS 
PrOGrAMME HIGHLIGHTS 

H3-d
The H3-D Centre at the University of Cape 
Town (UCT), is Africa’s first modern integrated 
drug discovery and development centre. 
Over the past four years the centre has had 
remarkable success with the first clinical drug 
candidate to come out of Africa delivered 
in 2012. Building on this success, H3-D 
has attracted both additional projects and 
partnerships and the funding necessary to hire 
more staff and develop more infrastructure.

In January 2014 it was announced that 
the internationally renowned philanthropic 
organisation, the Bill and Melinda Gates 
Foundation awarded a multiyear R50 million 
grant to H3-D for discovery work 
in malaria and tuberculosis.
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at UCT), or a development project focused 
on identifying fish parasites using custom-
developed polymerase chain reaction (PCR) 
methodologies (Dr Sue Henning, UCT). The 
CPGR concluded a genetic testing pilot study 
with three of the leading public and private 
diagnostic laboratories in the country: Ampath, 
Lancet, and NHLS, aimed at assessing the 
diagnostic utility of cutting-edge genomic 
assays run by the CPGR for use in the post-
natal detection of genetic disorders.

Metagenomics

The main objective of the Metagenomics 
Technology Platform at the University of the 
Free State (UFS) has been the discovery 
and exploitation of novel genes and/or 
their products from South Africa’s extreme 
environments, such as deep mines, for 
industrial applications. The platform is testing 
two pilot scale bioreactors for the remediation 
of acid mine drainage (AMD) at two coal 
mining sites in Mpumalanga. The services of 
the platform were also retained by a fertiliser 
company to assess the effectiveness of both 
passive and active remediation systems 
for industrial water contaminated with high 
concentrations of phosphate.

The platform has filed a United States Patent 
and Trademark Office (USPTO) patent for a 
technology it has developed for the remediation 
of uranium.

Metabolomics

This Technology Platform located at North 
West University (NWU) continues to improve 
the performance of its diagnostic services 
for chronic fatigue, newborn screening and 
inherited metabolic disorders to a range of 
private pathology laboratories. The platform 
used its equipment and expertise to process 
nearly 5 000 samples originating from 

centre for Proteomic and 
Genomic research

The Centre for Proteomic and Genomic 
Research (CPGR) is a non-profit organisation 
based in Cape Town that provides state-of-
the-art “omics” services to the life sciences 
and biotech communities in South Africa. It 
provides open access to its capabilities in the 
fields of biological and clinical research through 
provision of services and in collaborative 
projects. During 2013/14, the CPGR has 
received a total of 225 formal project requests, 
136 of which were accepted after a quotation 
was issued and 109 of which were completed 
during the financial year. 

Running a large number of projects at a 
platform greatly facilitates the diffusion of key 
life sciences knowledge across the National 
System of Innovation (NSI), resulting in steadily 
increasing intellectual gains for the CPGR and 
its constituent users.

The majority of projects undertaken by 
CPGR users were geared towards tackling 
biological and clinical questions such as those 
exemplified by a pilot study to find biomarkers 
in the blood of TB patients (Prof Gerhard Walzl, 
Tygerberg Hospital, Stellenbosch University 
(SUN), a project aimed at studying biological 
effects of drug compounds in cancer cells (Prof 
Iqbal Parker, International Centre for Genetic 
Engineering and Biotechnology (ICGEB) 

Executive Overview
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The platform is a dynamic training ground for 
developing industry-ready biotechnologists. It 
has hosted six interns at its facility during the 
review report period.

Biosafety South Africa

Biosafety South Africa (BSA) has established 
itself as a thought leader and premier resource 
for biosafety and genetically modified organism 
(GMO) risk assessment issues in the country. 
BSA has facilitated assessments of the 
possible introduction of GM technology by 
two agricultural industry associations. The 
BSA developed an “Integrated, conceptual 
framework for the development and 
commercialisation of sustainable GM crops” 
that is currently being used as the basis for 
the development of an industry-specific 
strategic plan.

BSA has a mandate to support strategic 
biosafety research. One such project funded 
during 2013/14 is the GMO Risk Assessment 
and Communication of Evidence (GRACE) 
project. The project is co-funded by the EU’s 
Framework Programme 7 (FP7), its seventh 
framework programme for funding research 
and innovation. FP7 involves 18 different 
participants from 14 countries, with the South 
African consortium member being the CSIR. 
One of its aims is to consider how animal 
feeding trials and in vitro studies for assessing 
the safety of GMO food and feed are designed, 
executed and interpreted.

clinicians around the country to assist in the 
early diagnosis of potential diseases. Further, 
two projects aimed at developing diagnostic 
techniques for TB, meningitis and fibromyalgia 
syndrome have progressed well and will enter 
the technology validation stage (namely, TRL 
4) in 2014/15. Construction of the dedicated 
building for the platform was completed. It is 
anticipated that platform activities will relocate 
to the new facility in the new financial year.

Bioprocessing

The TIA Bioprocessing platform (incorporating 
the Institute for Diagnostic Research), located
at the Umbogintwini Industrial Complex south
of Durban, has shown increased activity in
2013/14 by hosting six new projects. Some of 
the notable activities for the periodunder review 
have been to produce custom monoclonal 
antibodies with multiple stakeholders for 
application in human diagnostics (malaria 
diagnostics for the National Bioproducts 
Institute) and for the diagnosis of bovine 
respiratory condition in cattle. The platform 
has also been involved in technology transfer 
activities through using its infrastructure 
to develop and subsequently transfer the 
practical knowledge to grow mushrooms from 
liquid spawn to the Dlondlobala Cooperative 
in KwaZulu-Natal in collaboration with the 
Provincial Department of Agriculture. 
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Nicky drive

The AMTL worked with Nicky Drive to develop a 
driving simulator to assist physically challenged 
individuals in learning to drive.

The prototype was completed and is in use by 
the client. This project was selected for Cape 
Town’s successful World Design Capital 2014 
bid. Adaptronics AMTL will start development 
of a Nicky Drive Demonstrator and begin 
identifying more disabled individuals to use the 
Nicky Drive Simulator. 

This, the first South African designed and 
manufactured driving simulator of its kind, 
provides a platform for the development of 
customised driving adaptations for physically 
challenged individuals, of whom there were 
approximately 270 000 individuals recorded in 
2009 in South Africa. -There is also potential to 
use the simulator for physical driver assessment 
and training, and for learner’s license evaluation.

This was a joint technology project between TIA, 
AMTL, CPUT and Nicky Drive.

2. Technology Station in clothing and Textile

The Technology Station in Clothing and Textiles
(TSCT) was established at Peninsula Technikon 
(now the Cape Peninsula University of 
Technology) in October 2001. Its main purpose 
was to provide innovation support to SMMEs 
in the clothing, textile and related industries to 

TEcHNOLOGy STATIONS 
PrOGrAMME

The Technology Stations Programme is aimed 
at servicing the specific technological needs 
of manufacturers in the SMME sector. The 
programme aims to establish a system which 
will simultaneously increase SMME technology 
assimilation and innovative capacity and develop 
manufacturing skills at universities. To date there 
are 18 Technology Stations, including the three 
Institutes for Advanced Tooling (IATs), hosted at 
various universities countrywide.

During the year under review, the 2013/14 
financial year, a total of 1 904 SMMEs have been 
assisted through the Programme. In addition, 
a total of 550 products and/or processes have 
been developed, which is a 15% improvement 
compared with the previous financial year. To 
date a total amount of R97,1 million has been 
disbursed to Technology Stations and IATs.

Highlights

1. cape Peninsula university of 
 Technology – Adaptronics Technology 
 Station

The Adaptronics Advanced Manufacturing 
Technology Laboratory (AMTL) provides 
technology services and consultancy to South 
African industries and continues its exceptional 
work in adaptronic technologies, unmanned 
platform development, automotive technologies, 
and universal design for disability inclusion. As 
in the past, these technology focus areas serve 
as research topics for student development 
and a bridge for technology transfer to industry. 
The Technology Station has been engaged in a 
number of projects, one of them being the Nicky 
Drive which is described below.

Executive Overview
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enable them to become more competitive and 
to provide feedback into teaching and learning 
at the university of technology by engaging 
staff and students in its programmes. Below 
is an example of the kind of projects that were 
undertaken by the TSCT.

dark Icon

With TIA assistance this SMME won a contract 
to supply SAB Miller with T-shirts.

The station provided product development 
support to this SMME in the form of CAD 
patterns to enable it to produce garments 
efficiently. Providing this kind of support to 
SMMEs improves their competitiveness and 
long term sustainability. In so doing it allows the 
SMMEs to capture new markets and thereby 
create jobs.

3. Technology Station in reinforced and   
moulded plastics

The Technology Station in Reinforced and 
Moulded Plastics (TSRMP) based at the 
Durban University of Technology (DUT) has 
been in operation for over nine years. In that 
time the TS has assisted more than 310 clients 
and has been involved in over 755 activities. 
Below is an example of a project undertaken 
by the TSRMP.

cable anti-theft unit

Aman Technologies developed a product called 
the cable anti-theft unit (CATU) to protect 
cables and help solve the problem of cable 
theft and the resulting electricity disruptions. 
The company already had a contract with 
Eskom as well as some overseas interest when 
they approached the station for assistance.
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Below is an example of some of the projects that 
have been completed by the Technology Station.

Welfit Oddy

This company, based in Port Elizabeth, is a 
world leading manufacturer of stainless steel 
intermodal tank containers renowned for its 
design and innovation in this industry and 
with a long history and wide product range. 
The company manufactures high volumes of 
standardised tank containers as well as highly 
customised individual solutions. eNtsa assists 
Welfit Oddy on a daily basis to ensure export 
readiness and that a product of quality and 
exceptional value is delivered. 

During 2013 eNtsa completed many projects 
related to weld certification, corrosion testing 
and product development. Welfit Oddy has 
benefited from TIA support. Improvements 
to the existing fatigue platform were installed 
at the company for testing road tankers. The 
project aimed to update the existing platform 
by providing key hardware used for testing, the 
design of a human machine interface (HMI) and 
programming updates/improvements to the 
existing platform.

In order to enhance the technology and improve 
the testing facility eNtsa provided expertise.

The initial product, made of steel components 
assembled with bolts and nuts, was not strong 
enough and the Institute for Advanced Tooling 
(IAT) at Tshwane University of Technology 
(TUT) was asked to design and manufacture 
an injection moulding tool to produce the 
brackets in plastic. Different types of polymers 
were tested for their strength and after several 
tests the client decided on 30% glass-filled 
nylon. A prototype mould was designed, 
made and successfully tested on cables of 
different diameters (see photo). Some R&D and 
simulation work such as fine element analysis 
(FEA) was also undertaken during work on 
the project.

Technology Station in Automotive 
components 

The Technology Station in Automotive 
Components (eNtsa) at the Nelson Mandela 
Metropolitan University (NMMU) developed 
from the Technology Station Programme 
and was founded in May 2002 at the then 
Port Elizabeth Technikon as the Automotive 
Components Technology Station (ACTS), 
with one academic professor and two 
Masters students. From the outset this group 
distinguished itself as a leader in innovation 
and technology transfer, was twice rated the 
best technology station by an independent 
auditor and was categorised as “world-class” 
in this international benchmarking audit. 
Over the past decade this group has 
experienced rapid growth, the merger of 
academic institutions, recession, diversification 
and integration into the Technology Innovation 
Agency. 

All these challenges never distracted the 
group from its focus on the core activity of 
“innovation through engineering” to ensure a 
more competitive manufacturing industry that 
retains skills and creates new opportunities.

Executive Overview
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Growing and enabling the culture 
of innovation in South Africa

Youth technology innovation 
Programme (YtiP)

Recognising the importance of investing 
in young people to unleash the potential 
of innovation and entrepreneurship, TIA 
established the Youth Technology Innovation 
Fund (YTIF). YTIF assists young innovators 
in need of funding, mentorship and business 
support. The purpose of the fund is to promote 
and stimulate the culture of technology 
innovation and entrepreneurship among young 
South Africans by providing access to financial 
and business support resources. In addition, 
the fund is driven to deliver on developing a 
pipeline of innovative technologies for various 
TIA programmes. This funding instrument is 
targeted at the youth between the ages of 18 
and 30 who are currently not funded by any of 
the TIA funding instruments.

During the year under review, an amount of 
about R15,6 million was disbursed, benefiting 
43 youth projects in a country where youth 
unemployment is very high. Twenty-six projects 
were supported for technology development 
at various Technology Stations. During the 
year, seven prototypes were completed and 
some are currently undergoing technology 
demonstration or market trial, while some 
are being tested for certification at the South 
African Bureau of Standards (SABS). YTIF also 
assists youth with establishing technology 
enterprises, and four stipend vouchers were 
issued for this purpose. One project was 
provided with the filing of a provisional patent. 

Through the YTIF voucher, the Technology 
Station in Electronics currently assists with the 
development of 50 devices described below in 
the highlights section, which will be installed in 

households with prepaid meter boxes as part 
of a process of technology demonstration and 
to test the device in the Ethekwini area over a 
three-month period. This initiative is supported 
by the Energy Technology Station known as 
the KwaZulu-Natal Industrial Energy Efficient 
Training and Resource Centre (IEETR) based at 
DUT.

Highlights

The Saggitarious Serpentarious System is a 
device that will monitor the power consumption 
for the household inside the prepaid meter 
as well as outside at the transformer box. It 
will monitor the difference between the two 
measurements, and the device will detect if the 
prepaid meter has been opened or tampered 
with. In the case of tampering, the system will 
shut down the resident’s electricity connection 
and wirelessly send the resident’s details 
and error codes to the municipality. This will 
also mean that the resident will have to report 
the fault to the municipality in order to get 
reconnected to the grid.
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comprising a range of interventions including 
experiential and formal training, together with 
dedicated mentoring support to each candidate. 
The Chuma Internship Programme 
congratulates four out of ten of its candidates 
for receiving permanent placement in leading 
institutions in the NSI. They include:

• Dr Tony Chang: senior associate, 
 Ernst and Young
• Bheki Zulu: IP analyst, Wits Enterprise
• Naseema Sonday: IP officer, University 
 of the Western Cape (UWC) Technology 
 Transfer Office (TTO) 
• Thomas Kgatle: Licensing Coordinator,  
 Agricultural Research Council (ARC)   
 Licensing Unit

In addition, Ms Mookho Mathaba reached the 
semi-finalist stage in the Techwomen 2014 
Programme run by the Center for Women’s 
Leadership Initiatives, Institute of International 
Education (IIE), San Francisco, CA, USA.

dST Industry Support Technology 
Station Internship Programme

One hundred and fifty-six graduates were 
placed as interns at the technology stations and 
in industry to increase the expertise of science 
and engineering students through the provision 
of practical work exposure and experience 
either by placement in affiliated institutions 
linked to industry and/or directly in industry. 
This is to ensure that candidates are 
encouraged to take part in applied research 
in certified fields of science and engineering 
that include post graduate level (M-Tech and 
potential D-Tech students) in order to increase 
research activity and capacity.

This system won first prize at the 2013 Free 
State enterPRIZE Job Creation Challenge, as the 
Most Innovative Business.

TIA supported the filing of a provisional patent 
relating specifically to the parts and function of 
the device.

innovation Skills development 
Programme

TIA has identified a need to strengthen the 
fundamental business skills associated with new 
technology innovations. The Innovation Skills 
Development Programme (ISDP) is designed 
to enhance the business innovation skills of 
TIA funding recipients in order to improve the 
commercial prospects of their projects. 

Highlights

innovation challenge

In partnership with Mark Shuttleworth’s Hip2B2 
TIA implemented the Innovation Challenge in five 
provinces impacting more than 1000 learners. 
Some of the projects that were initiated are 
at a stage where they can be referred to the 
Youth Technology Innovation Fund (YTIF) for 
consideration.

chuma commercialisation 
Internship Programme

The Chuma Commercialisation Internship 
Programme is a three way strategic partnership 
between TIA, the technology transfer offices 
at HEIs and the venture capital industry. 
The programme has the direct objective of 
developing mainly black scientists and engineers 
with appropriate commercialisation aptitude, 
through an investment internship programme 

Executive Overview



39An initiative of the Department of Science and Technology

group Team Photo

EWSETA/ Industry Internship 
Programme

The EWSETA/ Industry Internship Programme 
is one of TIA’s development interventions to 
help build innovation skills. It also creates 
opportunities to provide students with 
workplace experience and gives them practical 
exposure relevant to their academic training. 
This makes them more employable and 
increases their chances of absorption into the 
work stream. 

In the current financial year, TIA leveraged 
funding of up to R4 million from the Energy and 
Water Sector Education and Training Authority 
(EWSETA) and achieved a target of successfully 
placing 60 interns. More than 75% of the interns 
were placed within energy, water and sanitation 
projects and companies.

E-Learning Programmes

The flagship project under the E-learning 
Programmes theme was the commissioning of 
the information and communication technology 
(ICT) laboratory for the Makinana Primary 
School in the Eastern Cape. About 20 functional 
computers were donated to the school in 
2013. There are about 800 direct beneficiaries 
including learners and teachers who use the 
laboratory on a daily basis. The laboratory is 
also currently being used by unemployed youth 
from the surrounding local area and by the Adult 
Basic Education and Training (ABET) class.
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Priorities for the year 
Performance Management
HR operations

Human Resources

Section 6



42An initiative of the Department of Science and Technology

Human Resources

Performance Management

One of the priorities for HR was to continue to 
build a culture of high performance through 
continuous improvement of the performance 
management process and nurturing a culture 
that incentivises high performers. This included 
directly linking individual performance targets 
to those of the organisation to align the 
collective efforts of all employees with the drive 
to achieve organisational success.

• Top Management  

• Senior Management 

•	 Professional	Qualified

•	 Skilled	

•	 Semi-Skilled

•	 Unskilled

The purpose of the Human Resource 
division is to provide quality service and 
support in recruitment, retention, employee 
and leadership development, performance 
management and employee relations in line 
with the needs of the Agency and as stipulated 
by relevant legislation. 

Priorities for the year

The HR priorities for the year were aimed 
at continuous improvement in systems and 
processes. In some areas these were managed 
manually and presented challenges of 
consistency and accuracy.

During the period under review, a total of 3.08% of the total annual payroll was paid in performance 
incentives with the breakdown by different staffing categories indicated in the graph above.

FiGure 5: Performance incentives paid per employment level

R1,245,905

R861,779

R836,962

R143,242  R343,865
R18,429

Performance rewards
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•	 Office	of	the	CEO

•	 Office	of	the	COO

•	 Office	of	the	CFO

•	 Biotech	Sectors

•	 Industrial	Sectors

•	 Corporate	Affairs

Hr operations

In order to deliver on the HR initiatives, 
there was a focus on improving HR systems 
which included revisiting administrative 
accuracy and consistency in document and 
data management. This was done through 
automating processes like performance 
management, leave management, 
organisational structure management and 
electronic management of key employee 
documents on VIP task management software.

Employee benefits

Attraction and retention of key skills has 
always been important to the Agency. One of 
the critical elements of retention is ensuring 
that TIA employees are paid salaries that are 
market related. TIA participates in a national 
salary survey and the results are used to review 
the existing pay scales for alignment with the 
market. Another area critical to attraction of 
key skills is the benefits offered by the Agency. 

These are reviewed annually and during the 
year under review, the company contribution 
to medical aid was increased to 70% and the 
company contribution to the pension fund was 
increased by 2%.

Employee development

As an effort to empower and retain key skills, 
TIA, through the performance management 
process ensures that every employee has an 
individual development plan (IDP). In addition 
to the IDPs which are focused on initiatives that 
empower the employee to deliver on the set 
objectives for the year, TIA also offers training 
that is not necessarily aimed at delivery of 
objectives but looks more to the future. This 
is mostly made up of the formal studies that 
employees choose to embark on in order to 
grow in their careers.

The graph below outlines training expenditure 
as a percentage of salary 
for each business unit.

FiGure 6: training expenditure per business unit

7%
7%

1%

1%

1%

1%

training cost as a % of salaries
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Independent Counselling and Advisory 
Services (ICAS) is contracted to provide 
additional, confidential assistance by 
qualified professionals ranging from 
legal to financial, psychological, etc. This 
service is extended to the immediate family 
members of the Agency’s employees at no 
cost to the employee. During this period, 
ICAS observed an increase of 4.8% in total 
engagements from the previous year. 

Employee wellness programmes 

There are several initiatives focusing on 
employee wellness. These include bi-annual 
wellness days which give employees an 
opportunity to undergo health assessments 
and to use those results to develop a health 
improvement plan. TIA, however, has a 
holistic approach to employee wellness, 
hence these initiatives will include financial 
wellness and guidelines on reducing work 
and personal stress.

Programme/ 
activity/ objective

YTD+ CTC amounts Personnel exp. 
as a % of total 
expenditure

Average number 
EEs YTD+

Average personnel 
cost per year (R)

Chief Executive 
Officer (CEO)

11 962 414 10.67 21 558 558

Finance 16 743 397 14.94 32 530 134

Industrial Sector 18 341 572 16.36 35 530 359

Corporate Affairs 
(COA)

18 331 021 16.35 49 375 380

Biotechnology Sector 21 263 579 18.97 50 428 846

Chief Operations 
Officer (COO)

25 459 524 22.71 57 449 948

Total 112 101 506 100.00 242.58 3 850 234

Level Personnel 
expenditure (R)

Personnel exp. 
as a % of total 
expenditure

Average Number 
EE's YTD+

Average personnel 
cost per year (R)

1. Top Management 10 213 573 9.11 6.00 1 702 262

2. Senior 
Management

24 899 218 22.21 23.33 1 067 111

3. Professional 
Qualified

46 176 352 41.19 83.75 551 359

4. Skilled 24 960 608 22.27 83.00 300 730

5. Semi-skilled 4 660 804 4.16 32.67 142 678

6. Unskilled 1 190 952 1.06 13.83 86 093

Total 112 101 506 100.00 242.58 3 850 234

table 1: Personnel cost per business unit

table 2: Personnel cost by salary band

Human Resources
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 2012/2013 no. 
of employees 

2013/2014 
approved posts

2013/2014 no. 
of employees

2013/ 2014 
vacancies

% of vacancies

CEO's Office 21 4 20 3 15

CFO's Office 28 6 32 2 6

COO's Office 50 23 52 21 40

Industrial Sectors 30 10 34 6 18

Biotech Sectors 45 10 46 8 17

Corporate Affairs 43 8 45 9 20

Total 217 61 229 49

table 3: employment and vacancies

Salary Band Employment at 
start of period

Appointments Terminations Employment at 
end of period

Top Management 6 0 0 6

Senior Management 22 3 1 23

Professional Qualified 77 9 11 76

Skilled 74 11 4 80

Semi-skilled 29 4 4 30

Unskilled 9 3 0 14

Total 217 30 20 229

table 5: employment changes

Salary Band 2012/2013 no. 
of employees

2013/2014 
approved posts

2013/2014 no. 
of employees

2013/2014 
vacancies

% of vacancies

Top Management 6 0 6 0 0.00

Senior Management 22 7 23 6 26.09

Professional Qualified 77 28 76 23 30.26

Skilled 74 20 80 17 21.25

Semi-skilled 29 6 30 3 10.00

Unskilled 9 0 14 0 0.00

Total 217 61 229 49 21.40

table 4: vacancies per employment level
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Reason Number % of total no. of staff leaving

Death 1 0.44

Resignation 14 6.11

Dismissal 1 0.44

Retirement 0 0.00

End of Contract 2 0.87

Retrenchment 3 1.31

Total 21 9.17

table 6: reasons for staff leaving

Human Resources
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Male  Female  Disabled Staff

A C I W A C I W  Male  Female

c t c t c t c t c t c t c t c t c t c t

Top Management 2 3 0 1 0 0 0 0 4 4 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Senior Management 11 12 0 1 1 1 3 3 6 6 0 1 1 0 2 2 0 0 0 1

Professionals 24 28 2 2 2 2 5 7 24 25 0 4 12 10 8 10 0 2 0 2

Skilled 25 21 2 3 1 3 3 3 38 36 2 7 2 5 7 10 0 2 0 3

Semi –skilled 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 23 0 5 0 1 0 4 0 0 1 0 0

Unskilled 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

table 7: equity targets and employment equity status 

a= african, c= coloured, i = indian, W = White        c = current, t = target

Executive unit % of employees in the unit Departments

Office of the CEO 9% • Business Strategy Management                                                            
• Special Projects                                                                  
• Audit and Enterprise Risk                                                                                   
• Board Secretariat                                                        
• Legal Services

Office of the CFO 13% • Finance                                                                        
• Supply Chain Management                                                                         
• Investment Finance Management                                                                        
• Fund Management                                                                        
• Investment Audit and Compliance

Office of the COO 23% • Investment Management Services                                   
• Marketing and Branding                                                                        
• Business Development & Strategic Partnerships                                                                        
• International Business Development

Industrial Sectors 14% • Mining and Minerals                                                                                     
• Energy                                                                         
• Advanced Manufacturing                                                                         
• Information and Communication Technology                                                                        
• Technology Stations

Biotech Sectors 21% • Agricultural Biotechnology                                                                        
• Health Biotechnology                                                                        
• Industrial Biotechnology                                                                        
• Biotechnology Platform

Corporate Affairs 20% • Human Resources                                                                        
• Security and Facilities                                                                        
• Innovation Skills Development                                                                        
• Information Technology & Information  
• and Knowledge Management                                                                        
• Communications and Events Management                                                                        
• Business Performance Monitoring and Evaluation

table 8: organisational Structure
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This section provides key performance 
information that demonstrates TIA’s achievements 
with regard to service delivery. 

Business Performance 
and Monitoring

Section 7
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Business Performance and Monitoring

Strategic Objective 1: To stimulate the development and demonstration of technology-based products, processes and 
services 

Rating

No. Performance indicator Actual 
achievement

2012/13

Planned 
target

2013/14

Actual 
achievement

2013/14

Deviation 
from 
planned 
to actual 
achievement 
for 2013/14

Comment on deviations

1.1 Number of high impact 
investments (HIP)

1 1 0 (1) The finalisation of the establishment 
was delayed awaiting executive 
authority

N

1.2 Number of technology-
based products/ processes 
developed through 
investments

58 30 37 7 Leading to the last quarter more 
effort was put into streamlining 
the evaluation process such that 
approvals be processed within the 
financial year, from the beginning TIA 
had a strong pipeline of applications.

A

1.3 Number of technology-
based products/processes 
developed or improved 
through Technology Stations

480 550 550 0 Performance in line with target

A

1.4 Number of products/ 
processes developed 
or improved through 
Technology Platforms

6 10 14 4 An emergency project that came 
about as a result of a client’s crisis. A

1.5 Number of new green 
technologies supported

2 1 2 1 Organisational target was set for one, 
however, a stretch target was set for each 
unit (Industrial and Biotech) to deliver one 
each in case one was not successful. 
However, they both succeeded.

A

1.6 Number of Small and Medium 
Enterprises receiving technology 
support from TS & IAT

New indicator 2000 1904 (96) There has been a significant improvement 
in performance from Q3, particularly due 
to an increase in SMMEs that received 
support from Technology Stations. The 
reason why the target was not met is that 
some SMMEs did not provide signature or 
identity document in line with the standard 
client capturing form (CCF) that must be 
filled in with information (i.e. company 
registration, company registration number 
and for start-up companies not registered 
with CIPC, an ID No.). In addition to the 
above, 177 large companies which did not 
meet the requirements of an SMME were 
also assisted at the different technology 
stations and thus could not be counted.

N

1.7 Number of knowledge innovation 
products supported: patents, 
prototypes, technology 
demonstrators and technology 
transfer packages

New indicator 15 27 12 Technology demonstration and local IP 
transferred to station clients occurred in 
Q4 as development occurred in the initial 
Q1-Q3 quarters.

A

The overall performance for the Agency was 86%. During the reporting period, there was a revision of certain strategic 
objectives and targets informed by the change in strategic focus in response to the Ministerial Review Report. Some of the 
key performance indicators (KPIs) were zero rated and in other cases they were revised down. In some instances the method 
of calculation was enhanced.
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Strategic Objective 2: To support the commercialisation of technology innovations Rating

No. Performance indicator Actual 
achievement

2012/13

Planned 
target

2013/14

Actual 
achievement

2013/14

Deviation 
from 
planned 
to actual 
achievement 
for 2013/14

Comment on deviations

2.1 Number of investments 
commercialised

5 3 8 5 One of the main changes with revised 
focus was for TIA to reduce effort for 
the latter part of the innovation value 
chain; hence the target was reduced 
substantially. However, some of the 
projects ended up being very successful 
e.g. 2 projects delivered 3 products each.

A

2.2 Number of technology-based 
companies established

2 1 1 0 Performance in line with target.
A

2.3 Amount of co-investment 
attracted

New Indicator R35m R74.4m R39.4m Continued efforts to leverage more funds 
resulted in more co-investments being 
attracted.

A

2.4 Number of investments 
attracting second round funding 
from external sources

New Indicator 2 2 0 Performance in line with target.
A

Strategic Objective 4: To develop an enabling internal environment within TIA to successfully execute its strategy Rating

No. Performance 
indicator

Actual 
achievement

2012/13

Planned target

2013/14

Actual 
achievement

2013/14

Deviation 
from 
planned 
to actual 
achievement 
for 2013/14

Comment on deviations

4.1 To put in place an 
IT architecture that 
enables investment 
& portfolio 
management

URS was 
completed 
which informed 
the RFP

The TIA Enterprise 
Architecture 
document, Master 
System Plan and 
Architecture

Implemented 
minimum IT 
architecture as per 
EXCO’s directive

None Performance in line with target.

A

End application 
and investment 
management 
process that is fully 
embedded in the 
system

Roll out trial Grant 
Management 
System based on 
mapped processes 
to be customised 
according to the 
new strategy when 
approved

None Performance in line with target.

A
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Strategic Objective 4: To develop an enabling internal environment with in TIA to successfully execute its strategy Rating

No. Performance 
indicator

Actual 
achievement

2012/13

Planned target

2013/14

Actual 
achievement

2013/14

Deviation 
from 
planned 
to actual 
achievement 
for 2013/14

Comment on deviations

4.2 Compliance with all 
relevant legislation

New indicator Continuous 
monitoring 
and process 
improvement 
for sustained 
compliance

IT internal audit 
conducted and 
report presented to 
EXCO, Audit and 
Risk Committee

None Performance in line with target.

A

New indicator Submitted 
management 
comments for all 
related findings

Internal audit 
conducted on 
IT infrastructure, 
operations and 
management 
thereof

None Performance in line with target.

A

4.3 Alignment of TIA’s 
critical positions 
with organisational 
design & relevant 
competencies, 
including retention 
of skills

New indicator 100% 50% (50%) Changes in the APP and the 
commercialisation environment 
affected the progress in the IDPs. 
Grey period from the time the APP 
was reviewed and the approval until 
the new APP was approved. IDPs 
were irrelevant.

N

Turnover below 
10%

7.3% 2.7% Performance in line with target. A

Core staff turnover 
below 10%

1.57% 8.43% Performance in line with target. A

4.4 Development 
of a desired 
organisational culture

New indicator Culture rating 
increased by 5% 
from previous year

Total Average 2.15 (1.75) The culture survey is a measure 
of employee perceptions which 
are highly influenced by the 
circumstances around them. The 
timing of the survey was surrounded 
by a lot of organisational changes 
which created a sense of discomfort 
and low morale.

N

New indicator Average 
performance rating 
of 110%

111% 113% The percentage is based on the 
September reviews. The year end 
results will be available once the 
external audit and the moderation 
process are completed.

A

New indicator Average leadership 
rating of 5 across 
all competencies 
on Thomas 
international 360 
degree assessment

5.21 None Performance in line with target.

A

Business Performance and Monitoring
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Strategic Objective 5: To facilitate the development of innovation skills to support technology innovation and 
commercialisation

Rating

No. Performance 
indicator

Actual 
achievement

2012/13

Planned target

2013/14

Actual 
achievement

2013/14

Deviation 
from 
planned 
to actual 
achievement 
for 2013/14

Comment on deviations

5.1 Number of 
learners on STEMI 
programmes

New indicator 500 Learners      
200 Students       
50 Educators

Selection process 
completed for: 
593 learners, 220 
students and 79 
educators

93 Learners   
20 Students  
29 Educators

HIP2B2 and 3M came on board and 
therefore there was enough funding 
to cater for more learners, students 
and educators.

A

5.2 Number of 
learners trained 
in foundational 
engineering skills 

New indicator 100 learners 101 1 The winner from the innovation 
challenge was selected to attend the 
programme and thus the number 
increased by one

A

5.3 Number of FET 
learners placed on a 
learnership 

New indicator 20 20 0 Performance in line with target
A

5.4 Number of 
interns placed 
on an accredited 
programme for work 
place exposure

New indicator 220 90 candidates 
completed business 
skills training 
and the other 
90 candidates 
completed life skills 
training. 

21 interns 90 candidates completed business 
skills training and the other 90 
candidates completed life skills 
training. A

5.5 Number of 
candidates trained 
through technical 
skills program at TIA 
technology stations 
or industry partner 
through TIA funding

New indicator 20 22 candidates have 
been trained on all 
three skills sets

2 The IAT selected two additional 
candidates from TUT to be part of 
the programme

A

5.6 Number of 
candidates trained 
through Chuma 
Management 
Development 
Programme

10 10 8 candidates 
seconded to 
venture capital (VC) 
firms continuing 
from 2012 (level 2)

(2) Initially 10 candidates were 
placed on the programme. Eight 
of the candidates completed the 
programme successfully and 
the other two candidates found 
permanent employment, B Zulu 
at Wits Enterprise and T Cheng 
at Ernest and Young, before they 
could successfully complete the 
programme.

A

5.7 Number of 
candidates trained 
through Techno 
entrepreneurship 
Programme

New indicator 60 76 phase 1, 2013 
intake 

16 The training was attended by 100 
candidates. A minimum of 60 were 
expected to complete. However 76 
completed the training and received 
a certificate 

A

5.8 Number of 
participants in the 
Step Up Technology 
innovation 
competition

New indicator 50 applicants and 
20 winners selected

20 best applicants 
selected for 
Business skills 
and mentorship 
programme

(0) 20 best applicants selected for 
mentorship programme.

A



54An initiative of the Department of Science and Technology

Ministerial Review Report. Some of the KPIs 
were zero rated and in other cases they were 
revised down. There were instances where the 
method of calculation was enhanced.

6.1 changes to planned targets 

The revised Annual Performance Plan 
(APP) 2013/14 was tabled at the DST on 18 
December 2013 and approved by the Minister 
of Science and Technology in January 2014. 
The revision of the APP was informed by the 
change in strategic focus in response to the 

revised Performance Indicators 

Strategic objective 1: to stimulate the development and demonstration of technology based 
products, processes and services

No. Performance Indicator Original target Revised target

1.6 Number of small and medium enterprises receiving technology 
support from TS & IATs

2400 2000

No. Performance Indicator Original target Revised target

2.1 Number of investments commercialised 12 3

2.2 Number of technology based companies established 4 1

Strategic objective 2: to support the commercialisation of technology innovations

No.  Original Performance Indicator Revised Performance Indicator Original target Revised target

2.3 Percentage of co-investment 
attracted

Amount of co-investment attracted 15% R35m

2.4 Percentage of investments 
attracting second round funding 
from external sources

Number of investments attracting 
second round funding from 
external sources

5% 2

Strategic objective 2: to support the commercialisation of technology innovations

Business Performance and Monitoring
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No.  Original Performance Indicator Original target Revised target

3.1 Number of new industry clusters established 1 0

No.  Original Performance Indicator Original target Revised target

6.1 Amount of funds raised by TIA as a percentage of MTEF 
allocation

30% 0

6.2 Number of Initial Public Offerings of TIA investments 1 0

The following strategic objectives were discontinued for the financial year 

The following strategic objectives were discontinued for the financial year 

Strategic objective 5: to facilitate the development of innovation skills to support technology 
innovation and commercialisation

No. Original Performance Indicator Original target Revised target

5.4 Number of interns placed on an accredited programme for 
workplace exposure

220 200
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The Board operated within an approved board 
charter in carrying out its legislated mandate.

Corporate Governance

Section 8
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Corporate Governance

by clarifying the different roles played by 
the Board and the DST. It further ensures 
consensus on TIA’s mandate and key 
objectives.

composition of the Board

TIA has a unitary Board structure comprised of 
10 members with a majority of non-executive 
Board members, who have been appointed 
by the DST. Members have a wide range of 
experience and professional skills as required 
under section 5(5) of the TIA Act to enable them 
to attain the objectives of the Agency. 
The term of the previous Board came to an end 
on 30 April 2013 and the Minster of Science 
and Technology appointed a new TIA Board 
with effect from 1 May 2013, who will serve 
until April 2017. The transition between the 
outgoing and incoming Boards was managed 
to allow for an effective handover process.  

Board meetings are scheduled in advance 
once annually and special meetings are called 
to address specific issues. During the period 
under review, 21 meetings were convened as 
reflected in the table below.

The Board operated within an approved Board 
Charter in carrying out its legislated mandate.

The Technology Innovation Agency (TIA) is 
a schedule 3A entity in terms of the Public 
Finance Management Act (Act No 1 of 1999) 
(PFMA). TIA was established in terms of the 
Technology Innovation Agency Act (Act No. 
26 of 2008) (TIA Act). TIA subscribes to the 
principles of accountability, transparency, 
fairness and responsibility as determined 
by the PFMA as well as the King III good 
governance best practices. 

During the year under review the TIA Board 
held frequent meetings in order to develop a 
new strategy for the organisation to enable it to 
discharge its mandate and to ensure that the 
business is guided on governance practices.

Legislative compliance 

TIA has, as far as possible, adhered to the 
requirements of the TIA Act, the PFMA, 
Treasury Regulations, and all other applicable 
legislation. The Board’s processes are 
reviewed continuously to ensure that it adheres 
and complies accordingly. 

TIA Shareholder compact

TIA is an Agency falling under the executive 
powers of the Department of Science and 
Technology (DST). The Board, in consultation 
with the Minister of Science and Technology, 
agrees on its performance objectives, 
measures and indicators in line with Treasury 
Regulations under the PFMA. The performance 
of the entity against the performance objectives 
is articulated in the Shareholder Compact as 
agreed between the Minister and the Board. 
The Board ensures that proper internal 
controls are in place and that TIA is effectively 
managed. The compact also promotes 
a culture of good corporate governance 
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Ms Helen Brown 
Programme Manager: 

Artisan Innovation and Development at the 
Manufacturing Engineering and Related 

Education Authority (MERSETA)

Mr Mkhululi Mazibuko
acting ceo 

Dr Petro Terblanche
Managing director: 

Pelchem SOC Ltd

Dr Bonakele Mehlomakulu
ceo SaBS

Prof. David Ellis Kaplan
Professor of Business and government 

Relations, University of Cape Town

Ms Rosetta Xaba
director: ROSSAL NO 98 (Pty) Ltd

Mr. Mahomed Ahmed Moolla
Head: ict Strategic Business unit: 

Industrial Development Corporation (IDC)

Mr Fadl Hendricks 
consultant, former TIA western Cape 

group Executive

Adv. Motlatjo 
Josephine Ralefatane 

conciliator and arbitrator Panelist: 
general Public Services Sector Bargaining 

Council (GPSSBC)

Dr Steve Lennon 
Group executive (Sustainability) at ESKOM

Ms Khungeka Njobe
(chairperson) Managing director: 

Kay Ann Investments
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and that the roles and functions of external 
audit and internal audit are sufficiently clarified 
and coordinated to provide an objective 
overview of the operational effectiveness of 
the entity’s systems of internal control, risk 
management, governance and reporting. From 
a risk management perspective, the committee 
ensures that the Board’s risk management 
strategies and processes are aligned with best 
practices. Management is fully involved 
in the processes and in reporting to the 
Audit Committee on risk exposures, emerging 
risks etc.

Committee meetings were held in accordance 
with the terms of reference during the period 
under review. They were also attended by 
external and internal auditors and senior 
executives. 

Investment and Finance 
committee 

The Investment and Finance Committee is 
comprised of five independent non-executive 
members. Dr Boni Mehlomakulu was appointed 
Chairman of the Committee in May 2013. The 
committee provides oversight of investment, 
and approves investment decisions in pursuit 
of TIA’s mandate and strategic objectives within 
the specific thresholds as set out in the TIA
Investment Framework Policy and the 
Materiality Framework. 

During the period under review, the committee 
took important investment decisions in line 
with TIA’s investment framework and provided 
management with expert advice and oversight 
necessary to guide them in making the 
investments. 

delegation of Authority

The Board remains accountable and it retains 
the ultimate authority to lead, control and 
manage TIA’s business, inclusive of powers 
to delegate responsibilities. In striving to 
ensure that TIA remains a viable and effective 
institution, its responsibilities are facilitated by 
a well-developed governance structure and 
Board subcommittees.

The following subcommittees support the 
Board in executing its mandate:

• Executive Management Committee  
 (ExCo)
• Investment and Finance Committee 
• Audit and Risk Committee
• HR and Remuneration Committee.

TIA has a comprehensive delegation of 
authority framework. The framework assists 
in ensuring effective decision-making 
without diluting members’ accountability and 
responsibilities. 

Board committees 

audit and risk committee

The Audit and Risk Committee (AC) is 
comprised of five independent non-executive 
members. Dr Steve Lennon was appointed 
Chairman of the Committee in May 2013. The 
Committee is charged with the responsibility 
of monitoring internal control systems and 
processes to ensure that TIA interests and 
assets are protected. 

The Committee further reviews any accounting 
concerns raised by the internal and external 
audits and the annual financial statements. 
It also ensures, among other things, that TIA 
has an effective internal audit function in place 

Corporate Governance
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Hr committee 

The Human Resources Committee is 
comprised of five independent non-
executive members. Dr Petro Terblanche 
was appointed Chairman of the Committee 
in May 2013. The purpose of the Human 
Resources Committee is to ensure that TIA 

develops a framework, policies, guidelines 
and an environment that allows the Agency 
to employ, reward and retain dedicated, 
motivated, efficient and loyal employees 
so as to achieve TIA’s long-term strategic 
plans and compliance with and oversight 
of human resources related matters. 



62An initiative of the Department of Science and Technology

Mr Mkhululi Mazibuko
acting ceo 

Mr Werner van der Merwe  
acting cFo 

Dr Sibongile Gumbi
Ge: Biotechnology

Ms Makgopelo Mkhwanazi
Ge: corporate affairs 

Ms Pontsho Maruping 
Ge:industrial Sectors/acting coo

The Board was provided with information on 
directors’ roles and responsibilities and their 
implications. The development of a plan for 
the continued training of Board members was 
received positively and will be implemented in 
the next financial year.

Executive committee (Exco)

ExCo, represented by executive management assists the CEO in managing the daily operations of 
TIA and in implementing the strategy as set by the Board. Exco executes its duties in terms of the 
delegation of authority in place for TIA and reports back to the Board on key issues.

Board Member Induction

Members must undergo ongoing training 
to improve their understanding of the 
Board’s business and legislative framework, 
governance processes and delegations 
of authority. 

Corporate Governance
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Board Member remuneration

The TIA board members are remunerated in 
accordance with National Treasury stipulations.

Board Secretarial Function

TIA complies with the requirements of the 
Companies Act, 2008 (Act No 71 of 2008) by 
having duly appointed a Company Secretary. 
The secretarial functions of the Board reside 
within the CEO’s office. 

During the period under review, 
Adv. Tlotliso Polaki served as Company 
Secretary and played a key role in providing 
Board members with guidance as to their 
duties, responsibilities and powers, providing 
guidance on legislative compliance and 
providing meeting administration services that 
allowed the board to function effectively. 

Board and Board committee Meeting Attendance

During the period under review, additional board meetings were held with a view to addressing 
key developments as they unfolded as well as strategies embarked upon by the Board.

Members Board meeting Audit & Risk 
Committee

HR & 
Remuneration 
Committee

Investment 
and finance 
Committee

Chairpersons 
Committee

Ms K Njobe 10 1

Mr F Hendricks 9 4 4

Dr S Lennon 11 5 1

Ms H Brown 11 4 4

Dr B Mehlomakulu 9 4 1

Adv M Ralefatane 9 4 4

Dr P Terblanche 10 4 1

Ms R Xaba 7 4 2

Mr M Moolla 7 5 4

Prof DE Kaplan 9 5 4

table 14: Board and Board committee Meeting attendance
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Annual Report

Taking 
technology 
innovation 

further
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These controls are monitored throughout the 
economic entity and all employees are required 
to maintain the highest ethical standards in 
ensuring the economic entity’s business is 
conducted in a manner that in all reasonable 
circumstances is above reproach. The focus of 
risk management in the economic entity is on 
identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring 
all known forms of risk across the economic 
entity. While operating risk cannot be fully 
eliminated, the economic entity endeavours
to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate 
infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical 
behaviour are applied and managed within 
predetermined procedures and constraints. 
The Board is of the opinion, based on the 
information and explanations given by 
management, that the system of internal control 
provides reasonable assurance that the financial 
records may be relied on for the preparation of 
the financial statements. However, any system 
of internal financial control can provide only 
reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against 
material misstatement or deficit.

The Board has reviewed the economic entity’s 
cash flow forecast for the year to 31 March, 
2015 and, in the light of this review and the 
current financial position, they are satisfied that 
the economic entity has access to adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future. The financial 
statements set out on pages 72 to 113, which 
have been prepared on the going concern basis, 
were approved by the Board on 30 July 2014 
and were signed on its behalf by:

Board’s responsibilities 
and Approval

The Board is required by the Public Finance 
Management Act (Act 1 of 1999) to maintain 
adequate accounting records and is responsible 
for the content and integrity of the consolidated 
and separate financial statements and related 
financial information included in this report. It is 
the responsibility of the Board to ensure that the 
consolidated and separate financial statements 
fairly present the state of affairs of the entity and 
its controlled entities (“the economic entity”) as 
at the end of the financial year and the results 
of its operations and cash flows for the period 
then ended. The external auditors are engaged 
to express an independent opinion on the 
consolidated and separate financial statements 
and were given unrestricted access to all 
financial records and related data.

The consolidated and separate financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance 
with Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any 
interpretations, guidelines and directives issued 
by the Accounting Standards Board. The 
consolidated and separate financial statements 
are based upon appropriate accounting 
policies consistently applied and supported 
by reasonable and prudent judgements and 
estimates. The Board acknowledges that it is 
ultimately responsible for the system of internal 
financial control established by the economic 
entity and places considerable importance on 
maintaining a strong control environment. To 
enable the Board to meet these responsibilities, 
the Board sets standards for internal control 
aimed at reducing the risk of error in a cost 
effective manner. The standards include the 
proper delegation of responsibilities within a 
clearly defined framework, effective accounting 
procedures and adequate segregation of duties 
to ensure an acceptable level of risk. 

Board’s Responsibilities and Approval

Ms Khungeka njobe
chairperson of the Board
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Audit Committee Report

1. Decreasing funds allocated to TIA

2. High staff turnover

3. Not achieving the TIA targets for the
    2013/2014 financial year

4. Poor implementation of the strategy

5. Non -compliance with applicable 
    statutory requirements

6. Reputational risk

7. Misappropriation of funds

8. Non-compliance with the accounting 
    framework

9. Lack of a management system for 
    investment information

10.  Insufficient attraction of relevant 
      investments

The risk profiles developed by management 
and external auditors, KPMG were in alignment 
with each other. This was as a result of 
continuous consultation and co-ordination 
between the internal and external audit 
processes. 

There were however still some minor 
differences in the risks identified due to 
the different approaches and levels at which 
risks were identified.

Risks are monitored monthly or quarterly to 
track progress on the committed mitigation 
action plans and identification of any other 
emerging risks. 

Governance Support: 
Audit and risk 

The Audit and Risk unit consists of the Internal 
Audit and Enterprise Risk Management 
functions within the Technology Innovation 
Agency. These functions report to the Office of 
the CEO and provide the Agency with effective, 
integrated assurance against risk and value-
adding internal audit services.

The task of the Internal Audit function is 
to determine whether the network of risk 
management, internal control, and governance 
processes as designed and applied by 
management, is adequate and functions as 
intended whilst the Enterprise Risk function 
ensures an efficient and effective risk 
management implementation by coordinating, 
administrating and maintaining the risk 
management system, processes and policies 
required for all functions.

A risk assessment workshop was conducted 
with the relevant internal stakeholders and a 
risk register was developed and presented to 
the Audit and Risk Committee. 

The strategic risks identified for the financial 
year 2013/2014 are listed below, in order of the 
level of risk (highest to lowest):
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dr Steve lennon
chairperson of the audit and risk committee

An investigation related to the previous TIA 
management was instituted by the stakeholder 
and the outcome thereof was publicized by 
the then Minister of the Department Science 
and Technology (DST). The Audit and Risk 
Committee had to consider the outcomes 
of the investigations related to the previous 
management and had to factor these into the 
relevant disclosures as required by the PFMA. 

These are then presented and approved 
at EXCO, prior to submission to the Audit and 
Risk committee either on a quarterly basis or 
as and when they arise.

A co-sourced model for the Internal Audit is 
still being applied to address the unit’s capacity 
challenges. The contract for the service 
provider had to be extended for another 12 
months with the aim of executing the annual 
internal audit plan without disruptions or delays 
and to ensure that decisions for capacitating 
the unit post the following organisational 
design processes are adequate.

The Audit and Risk Committee approved 
the risk-based internal audit plan that was 
developed and approved by the Audit and 
Risk committee, of which more than 80% of 
the planned audits were completed. There 
were also assignments for review which 
were requested by either the Audit and Risk 
Committee or management. The results of 
these additional requests were also reported to 
the committee. The assignments that were not 
undertaken during the year under review will be 
incorporated in the 2014/15 internal audit plan.

TIA takes a strong stance against acts 
of fraud and corruption and has therefore 
subscribed to the National Anti-Fraud and 
Corruption Hotline (NACH). Audit and Risk 
closely monitors cases reported to the Public 
Service Commission (PSC) and fulfils any of 
their requirements. One case was reported 
in the 2013/14 financial year. This case was 
investigated but had not been finalised by the 
end of the financial year on 31 March 2014.

Audit Committee Report
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to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to 
obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In 
making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial statements in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

opinion

In our opinion, these financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated and separate financial position 
of the Technology Innovation Agency as at 31 
March 2014, and its consolidated and separate 
financial performance and consolidated and 
separate cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with SA Standards of GRAP 
and the requirements of the Public Finance 
Management Act of South Africa.

report on the Financial 
Statements

We have audited the consolidated and separate 
financial statements of the Technology 
Innovation Agency as set out on pages 72 to 
113, which comprise the statements of financial 
position as at 31 March 2014, the statements of 
financial performance, statements of changes 
in net assets, the cash flow statements and 
the statement of comparison of budget and 
actual amounts for the year then ended and the 
notes, which include a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory 
information to the financial statements. 

Directors’ responsibility for the financial 
statements

The Board which constitutes the accounting 
authority, are responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with South 
African Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (“SA standards of 
GRAP”) and the requirements of the Public 
Finance Management Act of South Africa, and 
for such internal control as the accounting 
authority determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on these financial statements based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, the 
General Notice issued in terms thereof and 
International Standards on Auditing. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit 

Independent Auditor’s Report
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report on Other Legal and 
regulatory requirements 

Public audit act requirements

In accordance with the Public Audit Act 
of South Africa (PAA), and the General 
Notice issued in terms thereof, we report the 
following findings relevant to the reported 
performance against predetermined objectives, 
compliance with laws and regulations as well 
as internal control. We performed tests to 
identify reportable findings as described under 
each subheading but not to gather evidence 
to express assurance on these matters. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion or 
conclusion on these matters.

Predetermined objectives

We performed procedures to obtain evidence 
about the usefulness and reliability of the 
information in the Performance Information 
Report as set out on pages 50 to 53 of the 
annual report, and reported thereon to 
the accounting authority. The procedures 
performed were limited to the following 
selected objectives:

• Number of High Impact Investments 
 (HIPs);

• Number of technology based products/
 processes developed through 
 investments;

• Number of technology based products/
 processes developed or improved 
 through Technology Stations;

• Number of products/processes 
 developed or improved through 
 Technology Platforms;

• Number of new green technologies 
 supported;

• Number of Small and Medium Enterprises 
 receiving technology support from TS 
 and IAT’s; and

• Number of knowledge innovation 
 products supported: patents, prototypes, 
 technology demonstrators and 
 technology transfer packages

The reported performance against 
predetermined objectives was evaluated 
against the overall criteria of usefulness and 
reliability. 

The usefulness of information in the reported 
performance against predetermined objectives 
relates to whether it is presented in accordance 
with the National Treasury’s annual reporting 
principles and whether the reported 
performance is consistent with the planned 
objectives. The usefulness of information 
further relates to whether indicators and 
targets are well defined, verifiable, specific, 
measurable, time bound and relevant as 
required by the National Treasury Framework 
for managing programme performance 
information.

The reliability of the information in the reported 
performance against predetermined objectives 
is assessed to determine whether it is valid, 
accurate and complete.

We report that there were no material findings 
on the Performance Information Report 
concerning the usefulness and reliability of the 
information. 

Independent Auditor’s Report
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auditing Profession act requirements

In accordance with our responsibilities 
in terms of sections 44(2) and 44(3) of the 
Auditing Profession Act of South Africa (APA), 
we report that we have identified certain 
unlawful acts or omissions committed by 
persons responsible for the management 
of the Technology Innovation Agency which 
constitute a reportable irregularity in terms of 
the APA, and have reported such matter to the 
Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors. 
The matter pertaining to the reportable 
irregularity have been described in note 8 to the 
financial statements.

We report that this matter has been resolved 
prior to the date of issuing this report and is no 
longer on-going.

KPMG Inc.
Registered Auditor

Per thato Malakalaka
Chartered	Accountant	(SA)
Registered Auditor
Director

15 August 2014

1226 Francis Baard Street
Hatfield
0083 

compliance with laws and regulations

We performed procedures to obtain evidence 
that the entity has complied with applicable 
laws and regulations regarding financial 
matters, financial management and other 
related matters. We did not identify any 
instances of material non-compliance with 
specific matters in key applicable laws and 
regulations, as set out in the General Notice 
issued in terms of the PAA.

internal control

We considered internal control relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements, Performance 
Information Report and compliance with laws 
and regulations, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
internal control. We did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we 
considered sufficiently significant for inclusion 
in this report.
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Statements of Financial Position 

																Economic	entity 																Controlling	entity

2014 2013 2014 2013

Note(s) R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Assets
current assets 181,795 249,571 170,890 233,082
Trade	and	other	receivables 3 11,277 7,328 8,696 4,370
Cash	and	cash	equivalents 4 170,518 242,243 162,194 228,712

non current assets 130,419 113,048 110,650 96,925
Property,	plant	and	equipment 5 20,758 31,443 20,881 22,548
Intangible	assets 6 1,692 1,200 1,679 1,198
Investments	in	controlled	entities 7 - - - -
Investments	in	associates 8 40,668 22,824 20,789 14,098
Loans	and	receivables 9 26,729 13,735 26,729 15,235
Other	financial	assets 10 40,572 43,846 40,572 43,846

total assets 312,214 362,619 281,540 330,007

Liabilities
current liabilities 22,624 36,648 19,012 32,720
Finance	lease	obligation 11 458 114 458 114
Operating	lease	liability 1,661 1,972 1,661 1,972
Trade	and	other	payables 12 20,505 34,562 16,893 30,634

non current liabilities 12,005 29,523 9,387 27,274
Loans	from	shareholders 13 2,618 2,249 - -
Committed	conditional	grants	and	receipts 14 9,387 27,274 9,387 27,274

total liabilities 34,629 66,171 28,399 59,994

net assets 277,585 296,448 253,141 270,013

Net Assets

net assets attributable to owners of 
controlling entity
Reserves (340) (103) - -
Foreign	currency	translation	reserve 284,561 302,643 253,141 270,013
Accumulated	surplus 284,221 302,540 253,141 270,013

Non	controlling	interest (6,636) (6,092) - -

total net assets 277,585 296,448 253,141 270,013

As	at	31	March	2014
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Statements of Financial Performance

																Economic	entity 																Controlling	entity

2014 2013 2014 2013

Note(s) R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Revenue
Revenue	from	non	exchange	transactions 15 543,072 480,552 543,072 480,412
Other	income 16 11,814 13,779 1,926 7,970
Interest	earned 17 23,464 32,687 23,175 32,688
Dividends	received 17 - - 550 1,035

total revenue 578,350 527,018 568,723 522,105

Expenditure

Employee	related	costs 18 (142,068) (123,829) (125,307) (110,865)
Project	funding	expenditure 19 (330,655) (310,916) (345,435) (324,912)
Depreciation	and	amortisation (11,096) (13,005) (10,711) (10,700)
Finance	costs (113) (309) (113) (114)
Impairment	of	investments 20 (17,685) (12,565) (15,797) (19,657)
Repairs	and	maintenance (796) (1,447) (790) (1,407)
Other	operating	expenses 21 (93,074) (92,188) (73,844) (86,448)
IT	expenses (9,439) (11,545) (9,439) (11,165)
Marketing	expenses (4,159) (10,637) (4,159) (10,576)

total expenditure (609,085) (576,441) (585,595) (575,844)

Operating deficit (30,735) (49,423) (16,872) (53,739)
Surplus	from	equity	accounted	investments 12,390 418 - -

Deficit before taxation (18,345) (49,005) (16,872) (53,739)
Taxation 22 281 115 - -

Deficit for the year (18,626) (49,120) (16,872) (53,739)

attributable to:
Owners	of	the	controlling	entity (18,082) (49,466) (16,872) (53,739)
Non	controlling	interest (544) 346 - -

(18,626) (49,120) (16,872) (53,739)

As	at	31	March,	2014For	the	year	ended	31	March	2014



74An initiative of the Department of Science and Technology

Foreign	
currency	

translation 
reserve

Accumulated	
surplus

Total	attributable	
to	owners	of	the	
economic	entity/	
controlling	entity

Non	controlling	
interest

Total net assets

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Economic entity
Balance at 01 april 2012 - 352,109 352,109 (6,438) 345,671
Changes	in	net	assets
Currency	translation	differences (103) - (103) - (103)
Surplus/(deficit)	for	the	year - (49,466) (49,466) 346 (49,120)

Balance at 01 april 2013 (103) 302,643 302,540 (6,092) 296,448
Changes	in	net	assets
Currency	translation	differences (237) - (237) - (237)
Deficit	for	the	year - (18,082) (18,082) (544) (18,626)

Balance at 31 March 2014 (340) 284,561 284,221 (6,636) 277,585

Controlling entity

Balance at 01 april 2012 - 323,752 323,752 - 323,752
Changes	in	net	assets
Deficit	for	the	year - (53,739) (53,739) - (53,739)

Balance at 01 april 2013 - 270,013 270,013 - 270,013
Changes	in	net	assets

Deficit	for	the	year - (16,872) (16,872) - (16,872)

Balance at 31 March 2014 - 253,141 253,141 - 253,141

Statements of Changes in Net Assets

For	the	year	ended	31	March	2014
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Cash Flow Statements

																Economic	entity 																Controlling	entity

2014 2013 2014 2013

Note(s) R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Cash flows from operating activities
receipts
Grants 543,072 480,552 543,072 480,412
Interest	income 22,097 25,690 21,807 26,025
Dividends	received - - 550 1,035
Other	receipts 10,203 14,474 - 7,234

total receipts 575,372 520,716 565,429 514,706

Payments
Employee	costs (142,069) (123,829) (125,307) (110,865)
Project	funding	expenses (330,655) (310,916) (345,435) (324,912)
Other	payments (114,747) (103,789) (101,767) (96,667)

total payments (587,471) (538,534) (572,509) (532,444)

Net cash flows used in operating activities 23 (12,099) (17,818) (7,080) (17,738)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase	of	and	property,	plant	and	equipment 5 (6,306) (8,414) (8,466) (8,237)
Purchase	of	intangible	assets 6 (1,421) (2,216) (1,404) (2,216)
Purchase	of	investments	in	associates 8 (8,398) (2,600) (8,398) (2,600)
Purchase	of	other	financial	assets 10 - (3,274) - (3,274)
Repayment	of	loans	received 1,895 77 4,595 741
Loans	granted	 (27,859) (7,903) (27,859) (8,741)
Proceeds	on	sale	of	investment - 24 - 24
(Increase)/decrease	in	loans	from	shareholders 369 (46) - -

Net cash flows used in investing activities (41,720) (24,352) (41,532) (24,303)

Cash flows from financing activities

Ring	fenced	funding	received 40,000 7,000 40,000 7,000
Conditional	grants	paid (57,906) (24,090) (57,906) (24,036)

Net cash flows from financing activities (17,906) (17,090) (17,906) (17,036)

net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (71,725) (59,260) (66,518) (59,077)
Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	the	beginning	of	the	year 242,243 301,503 228,712 287,789

cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 4 170,518 242,243 162,194 228,712

For	the	year	ended	31	March	2014
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Budget	on	Accrual	Basis
Approved	

budget
Adjustments Final	Budget Actual	

amounts on 
comparable	

basis

Difference	
between	final	
budget	and	

actual

Reference

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Controlling entity
Statement of Financial Performance

Revenue
Revenue	from	non	exchange	transactions 521,081 - 521,081 543,072 21,991 32.1
Other	income - - - 1,926 1,926 32.2
Interest	received - - - 23,175 23,175 32.2
Dividends	received - - - 550 550 32.2

total revenue 521,081 - 521,081 568,723 47,642

Expenditure
Employee	related	costs (93,725) (30,382) (124,107) (125,307) (1,200)
Project	funding	expenditure (362,930) (128,675) (491,605) (345,435) 146,170 32.1 & 32.3
Depreciation	and	amortisation (4,782) (5,718) (10,500) (10,711) (211)
Finance	costs - - - (113) (113)
Impairment	of	investments - - - (15,797) (15,797) 32.4
Repairs	and	maintenance - - - (790) (790)
Other	operating	expenses (59,644) (54,017) (113,661) (87,442) 26,219 32.5

total expenditure (521,081) (218,792) (739,873) (585,595) 154,278

(Deficit) before taxation - (218,792) (218,792) (16,872) 201,920

actual amount on comparable basis 
as presented in the budget and actual 
comparative statement

- (218,792) (218,792) (16,872) 201,920

Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts

For	the	year		ended	31	March	2014
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The difference between the proceeds from the 
disposal of the controlled entity and its carrying 
amount as of the date of disposal, including 
the cumulative amount of any exchange 
differences that relate to the controlled entity 
recognised in net assets in accordance with the 
Standard of GRAP on The Effects of Changes 
in Foreign Exchange Rates, is recognised 
in the consolidated statement of financial 
performance as the surplus or deficit on 
the disposal of the controlled entity.

An investment in an entity is accounted for 
in accordance with the Standards of GRAP 
on Financial Instruments from the date that 
it ceases to be a controlled entity, unless it 
becomes an associate or a jointly controlled 
entity, in which case it is accounted for as 
such. The carrying amount of the investment 
at the date that the entity ceases to be a 
controlled entity is regarded as the fair value 
on initial recognition of a financial asset in 
accordance with the Standards of GRAP 
on Financial Instruments.

When the reporting dates of the controlling 
entity and a controlled entity are different, the 
controlled entity prepares, for consolidation 
purposes, additional financial statements 
as of the same date as the controlling entity 
unless it is impracticable to do so. When the 
financial statements of a controlled entity used 
in the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements are prepared as of a reporting 
date different from that of the controlling 
entity, adjustments are made for the effects 
of significant transactions or events that 
occur between that date and the date of the 
controlling entity’s financial statements. 

1. Presentation of Financial 
 Statements

The consolidated and separate financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any 
interpretations, guidelines and directives 
issued by the Accounting Standards Board.

These financial statements have been prepared 
on an accrual basis of accounting and are in 
accordance with historical cost convention 
unless specified otherwise. They are presented 
in South African Rand, which is the functional 
currency of the controlling entity. Amounts are 
rounded to the nearest thousand.

1.1. consolidation

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements are the 
financial statements of the economic entity 
presented as those of a single entity.

The consolidated financial statements 
incorporate the financial statements of the 
controlling entity and all controlled entities, 
which are controlled by the controlling entity.

Control exists when the controlling entity has 
the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies of another entity so as 
to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of controlled entities, are included 
in the consolidated financial statements from 
the effective date of acquisition or date when 
control commences to the effective date of 
disposal or date when control ceases. 

Accounting Policies

For	the	year	ended	31	March	2014
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An investment in associate is accounted for 
using the equity method, except when the 
investment is classified as held-for-sale in 
accordance with Standard of GRAP on Non-
current Assets Held-For-Sale and Discontinued 
Operations. Under the equity method, 
investments in associates are carried in the 
consolidated statement of financial position at 
cost adjusted for post acquisition changes in 
the economic entity’s share of net assets of the 
associate, less any impairment losses.

Distributions received from an investee reduce 
the carrying amount of the investment.

The most recent available financial statements 
of the associate are used by the economic 
entity in applying the equity method. When the 
reporting date’s of the economic entity and the 
associate are different, the associate prepares, 
for the use of the economic entity, financial 
statements as of the same date as the financial 
statements of the economic entity unless it is 
impracticable to do so.

When the financial statements of an associate 
used in applying the equity method are 
prepared as of a different reporting date from 
that of the economic entity, adjustments are 
made for the effects of significant transactions 
or events that occur between that date and 
the date of the economic entity’s financial 
statements.  

The economic entity’s financial statements are 
prepared using uniform accounting policies 
for like transactions and events in similar 
circumstances.

Adjustments are made when necessary 
to the financial statements of the controlled 
entities to bring their accounting policies 
in line with those of the controlling entity.

All intra-entity transactions, balances, 
revenues and expenses are eliminated in full 
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets 
of the economic entity are identified and 
recognised separately from the controlling 
entity’s interest therein, and are recognised 
within net assets. Losses applicable to the 
minority in a consolidated controlled entity 
may exceed the non-controlling interest in 
the controlled entity’s net assets. The excess, 
and any further losses applicable to the 
non-controlling parties, are allocated against 
the controlling interest except to the extent 
that the non-controlling entity has a binding 
obligation to, and is able to, make an additional 
investment to cover the losses. If the controlled 
entity subsequently reports surpluses, such 
surpluses are allocated to the controlling 
interest until the non-controlling entity’s share 
of losses previously absorbed by the majority 
has been recovered.

Non-controlling interests in the surplus or 
deficit of the economic entity is separately 
disclosed.
 
investment in associates

An associate is an entity over which the 
controlling entity has significant influence and 
which is neither a controlled entity nor a joint 
venture. Significant influence is the power to 
participate in the financial and operating policy 
decisions of the investee but is not control or 
joint control over those policies.

Accounting Policies
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1.2. Investments in controlled  
 entities

Controlling entity financial statements

In the entity’s separate financial statements, 
investments in controlled entities are carried at 
cost less any accumulated impairment.

The cost of an investment in a controlled entity 
is the aggregate of:
- the fair value, at the date of exchange, 
 of assets given, liabilities incurred or   
 assumed, and equity instruments issued   
 by the entity; plus
- any costs directly attributable to the   
 purchase of the controlled entity.

1.3. Investments in associates

Controlling entity financial statements

An investment in an associate is carried 
at cost less any accumulated impairment.

Deficits in an associate in excess of the 
economic entity’s interest in that associate 
are recognised only to the extent that the 
economic entity has incurred a legal or 
constructive obligation to make payments 
on behalf of the associate. If the associate 
subsequently reports surpluses, the economic 
entity resumes recognising its share of those 
surpluses only after its share of the surpluses 
equals the share of deficits not recognised.

Any goodwill on acquisition of an associate 
is included in the carrying amount of the 
investment, however, a gain on acquisition is 
recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.

Surpluses and deficits on transactions between 
the economic entity and an associate are 
eliminated to the extent of the economic 
entity’s interest therein.

The controlling entity discontinues the use 
of the equity method from the date that it 
ceases to have significant influence over an 
associate and account for the investment in 
accordance with the Standards of GRAP on 
Financial Instruments from that date, unless 
the associate becomes a controlled entity or a 
joint venture, in which case it is accounted for 
as such. The carrying amount of the investment 
at the date that it ceases to be an associate is 
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition 
as a financial asset in accordance with the 
Standards of GRAP on Financial Instruments.
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impairment testing 
(non-financial assets)

The recoverable amounts on individual assets 
has been determined based on the higher 
of value-in-use calculations and fair values 
less costs to sell. These calculations require 
the use of estimates and assumptions. It is 
reasonably possible that the assumptions used 
may change which may then impact on our 
estimations and may then require a material 
adjustment to the carrying value of tangible 
assets.

The economic and controlling entity reviews 
and tests the carrying value of assets 
when events or changes in circumstances 
suggest that the carrying amount may not 
be recoverable. If there are indications that 
impairment may have occurred, estimates are 
prepared of expected future cash flows for 
each asset. Expected future cash flows used 
to determine the value-in-use of other assets 
are inherently uncertain and could materially 
change over time.

1.5. Property, plant and 
 equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible 
non-current assets that are held for use in 
the supply of services or for administrative 
purposes, and are expected to be used during 
more than one period.

The cost of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is recognised as an asset when:
- it is probable that future economic 
 benefits or service potential associated 
 with the item will flow to the entity; and
- the cost of the item can be measured 
 reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially 
measured at cost.

1.4. Significant judgements and 
 sources of estimation 
 uncertainty

In preparing the financial statements in 
conformity with GRAP, management is 
required to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the amounts 
represented in the financial statements and
related disclosures. Use of available 
information and the application of judgement 
is inherent in the formation of estimates. 
Actual results in the future could differ from 
these estimates which may be material to 
the financial statements. These estimates 
and underlying assumptions are reviewed by 
management on an ongoing basis. Revisions 
to accounting estimates are recognised in 
the period in which the estimate is revised if 
the revision affects only that period, or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the 
revision effects both current and future periods. 
Significant judgements include:

loans and receivables

The economic and controlling entity assesses 
its loans and receivables for impairment at the 
end of each reporting period. In determining 
whether an impairment loss should be 
recorded in surplus or deficit, the economic 
entity makes judgements as to whether there 
is observable data indicating a measurable 
decrease in the estimated future cash flows 
from a financial asset.

The impairment for loans and receivables is 
calculated on an individual basis, based on 
historical losses, financial position of the entity, 
repayment terms and the commercial viability 
of the business.

For	the	year	ended	31	March	2014
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(the cost). If the acquired item’s fair value 
was not determinable, its deemed cost is the 
carrying amount of the asset(s) given up.
When significant components of an item of 
property, plant and equipment have different 
useful lives, they are accounted for as separate 
items (major components) of property, 
plant and equipment. Property, plant and 
equipment is carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated 
on the straight line basis over their expected 
useful lives to their estimated residual value.

of or when there are no further economic 
benefits or service potential expected from the 
use of the asset. The gain or loss arising from 
the derecognition of an item of property, plant 
and equipment is included in surplus or deficit 
when the item is derecognised. This gain or 
loss is determined as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds (if any) and the 
carrying amount of the item.

The cost of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is the purchase price and other 
costs attributable to bring the asset to the 
location and condition necessary for it to be 
capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. Trade discounts and rebates are 
deducted in arriving at the cost.

Where an asset is acquired through a 
non-exchange transaction, its cost is its 
fair value as at date of acquisition. Where 
an item of property, plant and equipment is 
acquired in exchange for a non-monetary 
asset or monetary assets, or a combination of 
monetary and non-monetary assets, the asset 
acquired is initially measured at fair value 

The residual value, the useful life and 
depreciation method of each asset is reviewed 
at the end of each reporting date. If the 
expectations differ from previous estimates, 
the change is accounted for as a change in 
accounting estimate. The depreciation charge 
for each period is recognised in surplus or 
deficit. Items of property, plant and equipment 
are derecognised when the asset is disposed 

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows for 
current and comparitive periods:

Item Average useful life (in years)

Buildings 20 - 25

Furniture and office equipment 3 - 6

Motor vehicles 4 - 5 

Leasehold improvements Shorter of the period of the lease agreement or the useful life

Other property, plant and equipment 5 - 10

Laboratory equipment 6
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Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.

For an intangible asset acquired through a non-
exchange transaction, the cost shall be its fair 
value as at the date of acquisition.

Expenditure on research (or on the research 
phase of an internal project) is recognised as 
an expense when it is incurred.

The amortisation period and the amortisation 
method for intangible assets are reviewed 
at each reporting date. Changes will be 
accounted for as a change in estimate.

The gain or loss is the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying 
amount. It is recognised in surplus or deficit 
when the asset is derecognised.

1.6. Intangible assets

An intangible asset is an identifiable non-
monetary asset without physical substance.

An asset is identified as an intangible asset 
when it:
- is capable of being separated or divided 
 from an entity and sold, transferred, 
 licensed, rented or exchanged, either 
 individually or together with a related 
 contract, assets or liabilities; or
- arises from contractual rights or other 
 legal rights, regardless whether those 
 rights are transferable or separate from 
 the economic entity or from other rights 
 and obligations.

An intangible asset is recognised when:
- it is probable that the expected future 
 economic benefits or service potential that 
 are attributable to the asset will flow to the 
 economic entity; and
- the cost or fair value of the asset can be 
 measured reliably.

Intangible assets are derecognised:
- on disposal; or
- when no future economic benefits or 
 service potential are expected from its 
 use or disposal.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, to their residual 
values as follows:

Item useful life

Computer software 2 years

For	the	year	ended	31	March	2014
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the entity analyses a concessionary loan 
into its component parts and accounts for 
each component separately. The entity 
accounts for that part of a concessionary 
loan that is a social benefit in accordance 
with the Framework for the Preparation and 
Presentation of Financial Statements, where it 
is the issuer of the loan.

Subsequent measurement of financial 
assets and financial liabilities

The entity measures all financial assets and 
financial liabilities after initial recognition using 
the following categories:
- Financial instruments at amortised cost.
- Financial instruments at cost.

initial recognition

The entity recognises a financial asset or a 
financial liability in its statement of financial 
position when the entity becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
The entity recognises financial assets using 
trade date accounting.

Initial measurement of financial assets and 
financial liabilities

The entity measures a financial asset and 
financial liability initially at its fair value plus 
transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset 
or financial liability. The entity first assesses 
whether the substance of a concessionary 
loan is in fact a loan. On initial recognition, 

The entity has the following types of financial liabilities (classes and categories) as reflected on the 
face of the statement of financial position or in the notes thereto:

1.7. Financial instruments

Classification

The entity has the following types of financial assets (classes and categories) as reflected on 
the face of the statement of financial position or in the notes thereto:

class category

Trade and other payables Financial liability measured at amortised cost

Finance lease obligation Financial liability measured at amortised cost

Loans from shareholders Financial liability measured at amortised cost

class category

Investment in controlled entities Financial assets at cost

Investment in associates Financial assets at cost

Other financial assets Financial assets at cost

Cash and cash equivalents Financial assets at amortised cost

Loans and receivables Financial asset at amortised cost
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difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows (excluding future credit losses that 
have not been incurred) discounted at the 
financial asset’s original effective interest rate. 
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced 
through the use of an allowance account. The 
amount of the loss is recognised in surplus or 
deficit.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the 
impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognised, the 
previously recognised impairment loss is 
reversed by adjusting an allowance account. 
The reversal does not result in a carrying 
amount of the financial asset that exceeds what 
the amortised cost would have been had the 
impairment not been recognised at the date 
the impairment is reversed. The amount of the 
reversal is recognised in surplus or deficit.

Financial assets measured at cost:

If there is objective evidence that an 
impairment loss has been incurred on an 
investment in a residual interest that is not 
measured at fair value because its fair value 
cannot be measured reliably, the amount of the 
impairment loss is measured as the difference 
between the carrying amount of the financial 
asset and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows discounted at the current market 
rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such 
impairment losses are not reversed.

1.7. Financial instruments 
(continued)

All financial assets are subject to an impairment 
review.

Reclassification

The entity does not reclassify a financial 
instrument while it is issued or held unless it is:
- combined instrument that is required to 
 be measured at fair value; or
- an investment in a residual interest that 
 meets the requirements for reclassification.

Gains and losses

For financial assets and financial liabilities 
measured at amortised cost or cost, a gain 
or loss is recognised in surplus or deficit 
when the financial asset or financial liability 
is derecognised or impaired, or through the 
amortisation process.

impairment and uncollectibility of 
financial assets

The entity assess at the end of each reporting 
period whether there is any objective 
evidence that a financial asset or group of 
financial assets is impaired. The impairment 
is calculated on an individual basis, based on 
historical losses, financial position of the entity, 
repayment terms and the commercial viability 
of the business.

Financial assets measured at 
amortised cost:

If there is objective evidence that an 
impairment loss on financial assets measured 
at amortised cost has been incurred, the 
amount of the loss is measured as the 

Accounting Policies
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assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is 
recognised in surplus or deficit. Any liabilities 
that are waived, forgiven or assumed by 
another entity by way of a non-exchange 
transaction are accounted for in accordance 
with the Standard of GRAP on Revenue from 
Non-exchange Transactions (Taxes and 
Transfers).

Presentation

Interest relating to a financial instrument or 
a component that is a financial liability is 
recognised as revenue or expense in surplus or 
deficit.

Dividends are recognised as revenue in surplus 
or deficit.

Losses and gains relating to a financial 
instrument or a component that is a financial 
liability is recognised as revenue or expense in 
surplus or deficit.

Distributions to holders of residual interests are 
debited by the entity directly to net assets, net 
of any related income tax benefit. Transaction 
costs incurred on residual interests is 
accounted for as a deduction from net assets, 
net of any related income tax benefit.

offsetting

A financial asset and a financial liability are 
only offset and the net amount presented in the 
statement of financial position when the entity 
currently has a legally enforceable right to set 
off the recognised amounts and intends either 
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously.

derecognition

Financial assets

The entity derecognises financial assets using 
trade date accounting.
The entity derecognises a financial asset only 
when:
- the contractual rights to the cash flows 
 from the financial asset expire, are settled 
 or waived;
- the entity transfers to another party 
 substantially all of the risks and rewards 
 of ownership of the financial asset; or

On derecognition of a financial asset in its 
entirety, the difference between the carrying 
amount and the sum of the consideration 
received is recognised in surplus or deficit.
If a transfer does not result in derecognition
because the entity has retained substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
transferred asset, the entity continues to 
recognise the transferred asset in its entirety 
and recognise a financial liability for the 
consideration received. In subsequent periods, 
the entity recognises any revenue on the 
transferred asset and any expense incurred on 
the financial liability. Neither the asset, and the 
associated liability nor the revenue, and the 
associated expenses are offset.

Financial liabilities

The entity derecognises a financial liability (or a 
part of a financial liability) from its statement of 
financial position when it is extinguished — i.e. 
when the obligation specified in the contract is 
discharged, cancelled, expires or waived.
The difference between the carrying amount of 
a financial liability (or part of a financial liability) 
extinguished or transferred to another party and 
the consideration paid, including any non-cash 
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1.9. Employee benefits

Employee benefits are all forms of 
consideration given by an entity in exchange 
for services rendered by employees.
Termination benefits are employee 
benefits payable as a result of either:
- an entity’s decision to terminate an  
 employee’s employment before the 
 normal retirement date; or
- an employee’s decision to accept 
 voluntary redundancy in exchange 
 for those benefits.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are employee 
benefits (other than termination benefits) that 
are due to be settled within twelve months after 
the end of the period in which the employees 
render the related service.

Short-term employee benefits include 
items such as:
- wages and salaries;
- short-term compensated absences 
 (such as paid annual leave) 
 where the compensation for the absences 
 is due to be settled within twelve months 
 after the end of the reporting period in 
 which the employees render the related 
 employee service;
- bonus, incentive and performance related 
 payments payable within twelve months 
 after the end of the reporting period in 
 which the employees render the related 
 service; and 
- non-monetary benefits for current 
 employees.

1.8. Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it 
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership. A lease is classified 
as an operating lease if it does not transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental 
to ownership. When a lease includes both land 
and building elements, the entity assesses the 
classification of each element separately.
 
Finance leases - lessee

Finance leases are recognised as assets and 
liabilities in the statement of financial position 
at amounts equal to the fair value of the leased 
property or, if lower, the present value of the 
minimum lease payments. 

The discount rate used in calculating the 
present value of the minimum lease payments 
is the interest rate implicit in the lease.

Minimum lease payments are apportioned 
between the finance charge and reduction of 
the outstanding liability. The finance charge is 
allocated to each period during the lease term 
so as to produce a constant periodic rate on 
the remaining balance of the liability.

operating leases - lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised 
as an expense on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term. The difference between the 
amounts recognised as an expense and 
the contractual payments are recognised 
in the statement of financial position as 
an operating lease asset or liability.

For	the	year	ended	31	March	2014
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1.11. revenue from exchange 
 transactions

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic 
benefits or service potential during the 
reporting period when those inflows result in 
an increase in net assets, other than increases 
relating to contributions from owners. 
Exchange transactions are transactions in 
which one entity receives assets or services, or 
has liabilities extinguished, and directly gives 
approximately equal value (primarily in the form 
of cash, goods, services or use of assets) to 
another entity in exchange.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset 
could be exchanged, or a liability settled, 
between knowledgeable, willing parties in an 
arm’s length transaction.

Revenue from exchange transactions include 
interest, royalties and dividends earned as well 
as profit on sale of assets.

Measurement

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable, net of 
trade discounts and volume rebates.

interest, royalties and dividends

Revenue arising from the use by others of entity 
assets yielding interest, royalties and dividends 
is recognised when:
- it is probable that the economic benefits 
 or service potential associated with the 
 transaction will flow to the entity, and
- the amount of the revenue can be 
 measured reliably.

The expected cost of compensated absences 
is recognised as an expense as the employees 
render services that increase their entitlement 
or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, 
when the absence occurs. The entity 
measures the expected cost of accumulating 
compensated absences as the additional 
amount that the entity expects to pay as a 
result of the unused entitlement that has 
accumulated at the reporting date.

The entity recognises the expected cost of 
bonus, incentive and performance related 
payments as accruals when the entity has a 
present legal or constructive obligation to make 
such payments as a result of past events and 
a reliable estimate of the obligation can be 
made. A present obligation exists when the 
entity has no realistic alternative but to make 
the payments.

Post-employment benefits: Defined 
contribution plans

Defined contribution plans are post-
employment benefit plans under which 
an entity pays fixed contributions into a 
separate entity (a fund) and will have no 
legal or constructive obligation to pay further 
contributions if the fund does not hold 
sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits 
relating to employee service in the current 
and prior periods. The entity contributes to a 
pension fund under this definition.

1.10. contingencies

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are 
not recognised in the statement of financial 
position, but are disclosed as a note to the 
financial statements.
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transactions, other than taxes, such as transfer 
of government grants from the shareholder or 
recognition of revenue in line with expenses 
incurred on contitional grants received.

recognition

An inflow of resources from a non-exchange 
transaction recognised as an asset is 
recognised as revenue, except to the extent 
that a liability is also recognised in respect of 
the same inflow.
As the entity satisfies a present obligation 
recognised as a liability in respect of an inflow 
of resources from a non-exchange transaction 
recognised as an asset, it reduces the 
carrying amount of the liability recognised and 
recognises an amount of revenue equal to that 
reduction.
 
Measurement

Revenue from a non-exchange transaction is 
measured at the amount of the increase in net 
assets recognised by the entity.

When, as a result of a non-exchange 
transaction, the entity recognises an asset, 
it also recognises revenue equivalent to the 
amount of the asset measured at its fair value 
as at the date of acquisition, unless it is also 
required to recognise a liability. Where a liability 
is required to be recognised it will be measured 
as the best estimate of the amount required 
to settle the obligation at the reporting date, 
and the amount of the increase in net assets, 
if any, recognised as revenue. When a liability 
is subsequently reduced, because the taxable 
event occurs or a condition is satisfied, 
the amount of the reduction in the liability 
is recognised as revenue.

1.11. revenue from exchange 
 transactions (continued)

Interest is recognised, in surplus or deficit, 
using the effective interest method. Royalties 
are recognised in surplus or deficit, as they 
are earned in accordance with the substance 
of the relevant agreements. Dividends, or their 
equivalents are recognised, in surplus or deficit, 
when the entity’s right to receive payment has 
been established.
Management fees are earned and recognised in 
surplus or deficit in line with the stipulations of 
the applicable funding contract.

1.12. revenue from non-exchange 
 transactions

Revenue comprises gross inflows of economic 
benefits or service potential received and 
receivable by an entity, which represents an 
increase in net assets, other than increases 
relating to contributions from owners.

Non-exchange transactions are transactions 
that are not exchange transactions. In a non-
exchange transaction, an entity either receives 
value from another entity without directly giving 
approximately equal value in exchange, or gives 
value to another entity without directly receiving 
approximately equal value in exchange.

Restrictions on transferred assets are 
stipulations that limit or direct the purposes 
for which a transferred asset may be used, but 
do not specify that future economic benefits 
or service potential is required to be returned 
to the transferor if not deployed as specified. 
Stipulations on transferred assets are terms in 
laws or regulation, or a binding arrangement, 
imposed upon the use of a transferred asset 
by entities external to the reporting entity. 
Transfers are inflows of future economic 
benefits or service potential from non-exchange 

For	the	year	ended	31	March	2014
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The approved budget covers the financial 
period from 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014.  

The financial statements and the budget are 
on the same basis of accounting, therefore a 
comparison with the budgeted amounts for 
the reporting period have been included in the 
Statement of comparison of budget and actual 
amounts.

Comparative information is not required.

1.16. related parties

The economic entity operates in an economic 
sector currently dominated by entities 
directly or indirectly owned by the South 
African Government. As a consequence 
of the constitutional independence of the 
three spheres of government in South Africa, 
only entities within the national sphere of 
government are considered to be related 
parties. Management are those persons 
responsible for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the economic entity, 
including those charged with the governance 
of the economic entity in accordance with 
legislation, in instances where they are required 
to perform such functions.
 

1.13. Investment income

Investment income is recognised on a time-
proportion basis using the effective interest 
method.

1.14. Irregular and fruitless and 
 wasteful expenditure

Irregular expenditure means expenditure 
incurred in contravention of, or not in 
accordance with, requirements of any 
applicable legislation, including the PFMA.
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure means 
expenditure that was made in vain and would 
have been avoided had reasonable care 
been exercised. All irregular and fruitless and 
wasteful expenditure are charged against 
the respective class of expenditure in the 
statement of financial performance in the 
period in which they are incurred and disclosed 
in a note in the period in which it is identified.

1.15. Budget information

The controlling entity is typically subject to 
budgetary limits in the form of appropriations 
or budget authorisations which is given effect 
through authorising appropriation via a vote.

General purpose financial reporting by 
the controlling entity shall provide information 
on whether resources were obtained and 
used in accordance with the legally adopted 
budget. The standard applies to entities that 
are required or elect to make publicly available 
their approved budgets, in the economic 
entity’s case this principle only applies to the 
budget of the controlled entity. The approved 
budget is prepared on an accrual basis and 
presented by economic classification.
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Exchange differences arising on a monetary 
item that forms part of a net investment in a 
foreign operation are recognised initially in a 
separate component of net assets reserve and 
recognised in surplus or deficit on disposal of 
the net investment.

The cash flows of a foreign controlled entity are 
translated at the exchange rates between the 
functional currency and the foreign currency at 
the dates of the cash flows.
 

1.17. Translation of foreign 
 currencies

investments in controlled entities

The results and financial position of a foreign 
operation are translated into the functional 
currency using the following procedures:
- assets and liabilities for each statement 
 of financial position presented are 
 translated at the closing rate at the date 
 of that statement of financial position;
- revenue and expenses for each surplus 
 or deficit item are translated at exchange 
 rates at the dates of the transactions; and
- all resulting exchange differences are 
 recognised as a separate component 
 of net assets.

For	the	year	ended	31	March	2014
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2. Standards and interpretations

2.1. Standards and interpretations issued, but not yet effective

The economic entity has not applied the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are 
mandatory for the economic entity’s accounting periods beginning on or after 01 April 2014 or later periods:

3. Trade and other receivables

Fair value of trade and other receivables

The entity is of the opinion that the carrying value approximates the fair value of trade and other receivables at period end, 
due to the short-term nature of these balances.

trade and other receivables past due but not impaired

Trade and other receivables which are less than 3 months past due are not considered to be impaired. At 31 March 2014, 
R 1,328,000 (2013: R 2,394,000) was past due but not impaired.

The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

Trade	receivables 4,848 2,390 2,421 224
Prepayments 2,468 1,457 2,465 1,456
Deposits 864 975 864 975
Other	receivables 3,097 2,506 2,946 1,715

11,277 7,328 8,696 4,370

Standard/ interpretation: effective date:                        
Years beginning on or after

expected impact

-	GRAP	105:	Transfers	of	functions	between	entities	under													
- common	control

01	April	2014 No	impact	expected

-	GRAP	106:	Transfers	of	functions	between	entities	not	under											
- common	control

01	April	2014 No	impact	expected

-	GRAP	107:	Mergers 01	April	2014 No	impact	expected

1	month	past	due 842 95 1,103 -
2	months	past	due 209 - - -
3	months	past	due 277 410 1,291 -

For	the	year	ended	31	March	2014

																Economic	entity 																Controlling	entity
2014 2013 2014 2013

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
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3. Trade and other receivables (continued)

trade and other receivables impaired

The amount of the provision for impairment is R 311 084 as of 31 March 2014 (2013: R 311 084). The ageing of these 
balances are as follows:

reconciliation of provision for impairment of trade and other receivables

The creation and release of the provision for impaired receivables has been included in operating expenses in the 
statement of financial performance. Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when the 
recovery of such amounts is improbable.

No collateral is held as security.

4. cash and cash equivalents

cash and cash equivalents consist of:

The R162 193 934 cash balance in the Controlling entity on 31 March 2014 is committed in full through funding 
agreements. Refer to note 26 for detail on these agreements. 

A guarantee (number M530013) was entered into whereby Standard Bank Ltd, Registration number 1962/000738/06, 
undertakes to pay to IBM South Africa (Pty) Ltd (“the beneficiary”) the sum of R500 000 on receipt of a first written 
demand for payment from the beneficiary stating that the amount is due and payable by African Clinical Research 
Organisation SOC Ltd (“the principal”) in terms of an agreement between the principal and the beneficiary. 
The guarantee is in respect of computer rentals.

The entity is of the opinion that the carrying value approximates the fair value of cash and cash equivalents 
at period end, due to the short-term nature.

Over	6	months 311 311 311 311

Opening	balance 311 297 311 297
Provision	for	impairment - 38 - 38
Amounts	written	off	as	uncollectable - (24) - (24)

311 311 311 311

 

Cash	on	hand 11 10 11 10
Bank	balances 170,507 242,233 162,183 228,702

170,518 242,243 162,194 228,712

																Economic	entity 																Controlling	entity
2014 2013 2014 2013

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

For	the	year	ended	31	March	2014

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements



93An initiative of the Department of Science and Technology

Opening	balance Additions Disposals Depreciation Closing	balance

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
Land	and	Buildings 3,199 - (2,133) (82) 984
Furniture	and	office	equipment 9,836 4,532 (239) (4,767) 9,362
Motor	vehicles 130 - - (59) 71
Leasehold	improvements 7,430 501 (155) (2,637) 5,139
Other	property,	plant	and	equipment 444 - (55) (179) 210
Laboratory	equipment 10,404 1,273 (4,242) (2,443) 4,992

31,443 6,306 (6,824) (10,167) 20,758

Economic	entity 2014 2013

Cost Accumulated	
depreciation	/	

impairment

Carrying	value Cost Accumulated	
depreciation	/	

impairment

Carrying	value

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
Land	and	Buildings 1,676 (692) 984 7,992 (4,793) 3,199
Furniture	and	office	equipment 21,136 (11,774) 9,362 17,952 (8,116) 9,836
Motor	vehicles 312 (241) 71 312 (182) 130
Leasehold	improvements 14,159 (9,020) 5,139 24,667 (17,237) 7,430
Other	property,	plant	and	equipment 7,374 (7,164) 210 8,069 (7,625) 444
Laboratory	equipment 11,529 (6,537) 4,992 20,836 (10,432) 10,404

total 56,186 (35,428) 20,758 79,828 (48,385) 31,443

Controlling	entity 2014 2013
Cost Accumulated	

depreciation	/	
impairment

Carrying	value Cost Accumulated	
depreciation	/	

impairment

Carrying	value

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
Land	and	Buildings 2,700 - 2,700 - - -
Furniture	and	office	equipment 19,747 (10,843) 8,904 16,497 (6,996) 9,501
Motor	vehicles 308 (237) 71 308 (178) 130
Leasehold	improvements 14,159 (9,020) 5,139 13,844 (6,413) 7,431
Laboratory	equipment 12,518 (8,451) 4,067 11,566 (6,080) 5,486

total 49,432 (28,551) 20,881 42,215 (19,667) 22,548

5. Property, plant and equipment

reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - economic entity - 2014
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5. Property, plant and equipment (contiued)

reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - economic entity - 2013

reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - controlling entity - 2014

reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - controlling entity - 2013

Pledged as security

None of the assets above have been pledged as security or have restrictions on title.

The carrying value of assets included in furniture and office equipment under finance leases: R130 655 (2013: R45 000).

Opening	balance Additions Disposals Depreciation Closing	balance

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
Land	and	Buildings 3,611 - (116) (296) 3,199
Furniture	and	office	equipment 7,622 6,319 (111) (3,994) 9,836
Motor	vehicles 179 9 - (58) 130
Leasehold	improvements 10,518 981 - (4,069) 7,430
Other	property,	plant	and	equipment 687 - - (243) 444
Laboratory	equipment 12,620 1,105 (296) (3,025) 10,404

35,237 8,414 (523) (11,685) 31,443

Opening	balance Additions Disposals Depreciation Closing	balance

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
Land	and	Buildings - 2,700 - - 2,700
Furniture	and	office	equipment 9,501 4,241 (173) (4,665) 8,904
Motor	vehicles 130 - - (59) 71
Leasehold	improvements 7,431 501 (155) (2,638) 5,139
Laboratory	equipment 5,486 1,024 (17) (2,426) 4,067

22,548 8,466 (345) (9,788) 20,881

Opening	balance Additions Disposals Depreciation Closing	balance

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
Furniture	and	office	equipment 7,308 6,141 (103) (3,845) 9,501
Motor	vehicles 179 9 - (58) 130
Leasehold	improvements 9,784 982 - (3,335) 7,431
Laboratory	equipment 6,588 1,105 (61) (2,146) 5,486

23,859 8,237 (164) (9,384) 22,548

For	the	year	ended	31	March	2014

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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6. Intangible assets

Economic	entity	 2014 2013

Cost Accumulated	
amortisation	/	

impairment

Carrying	value Cost Accumulated	
amortisation	/	

impairment

Carrying	value

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
Computer	software 3,822 (2,130) 1,692 3,388 (2,188) 1,200

Controlling	entity	 2014 2013

Cost Accumulated	
amortisation	/	

impairment

Carrying	value Cost Accumulated	
amortisation	/	

impairment

Carrying	value

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
Computer	software 3,196 (1,517) 1,679 2,746 (1,548) 1,198

reconciliation of intangible assets - economic entity - 2014

Opening	balance Additions Amortisation Total

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
Computer	software 1,200 1,421 (929) 1,692

reconciliation of intangible assets - economic entity - 2013

Opening	balance Additions Amortisation Total

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
Computer	software 304 2,217 (1,321) 1,200

reconciliation of intangible assets - controlling entity - 2014

Opening	balance Additions Amortisation Total

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
Computer	software 1,198 1,404 (923) 1,679

reconciliation of intangible assets - controlling entity - 2013

Opening	balance Additions Amortisation Total

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
Computer	software 297 2,217 (1,316) 1,198

restricted title

None of the above intangible assets have restrictions in title or have been pledged as security.
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7. Investments in controlled entities

* These entities were deregistered with CIPC during the 2013/2014 financial year.

** These entities are in the process of being deregistered.

The carrying amounts of controlled entities are shown net of impairment losses.

controlled entities with different reporting dates from that of the controlling entity

A number of controlled entities have reporting dates that differ from the controlling entity. If the reporting date is within a 3 
month period of the reporting period of the controlling entity, the annual financial statements for that period will be used in 
consolidating the results of the entity. The management accounts for the entities were reviewed in order to ensure that no 
significant changes took place between the reporting date and 31 March 2014.

Where the reporting dates differ with more than 3 months, a review of the financial affairs of the entity are performed up to 
the reporting date of the controlling entity and this is used for consolidation purposes.
 

2014 2013 2014 2013
Name	of	company Reporting 

period	end
%	holding	 %	holding Carrying	

amount
Carrying	
amount

R '000 R '000
African	Clinical	Research	Organisation	(Pty)	Ltd 31 Mar 81.67% 81.67% - -
Bio2Biz	(Pty)	Ltd 31	Dec 58.75% 58.75% - -
Cape	Carotene	(Pty)	Ltd	* 28	Feb - % 100.00% - -
Cape	Gourmet	Mushrooms	(Pty)	Ltd	** 28	Feb 58.17% 58.17% - -
Capelands	Nurseries	(Pty)	Ltd	** 31 Mar 100.00% 100.00% - -
East	Coast	Rapid	Diagnostics	(Pty)	Ltd	* 31 Mar - % 100.00% - -
Genecare	Molecular	Genetics	(Pty)	Ltd	 30 Sep 100.00% 100.00% - -
Natural	Carotenoids	South	African	(Pty)	Ltd 31 Jul 98.83% 98.83% - -
ZA	Biotech	(Pty)	Ltd	** 28	Feb 98.00% 98.00% - -

For	the	year	ended	31	March	2014

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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8. Investments in associates

The carrying amounts of investments in associates are shown net of impairment losses. 

* Although the controlling entity holds more than 50% of the voting powers in these entities, the investment is not 
considered a controlled entity because the controlling entity does not have control over the entity due to voting rights/
appointment powers of directors. These investments are therefore classified as investments in associates.

** These entities are in the process of liquidation/deregistration. Adept Airmotive (Pty) Ltd and Geratech Zirconium 
Benefication (Pty) Ltd were placed under liquidation during the financial year.

*** The controlling entity increased its shareholding in Varibox Holdings (Pty) Ltd during the financial year. This increase 
caused the investment to be classified as an associate due to a significant shareholding in the company. For prior year 
shareholding information, refer to note 10.

2014 2013 2014 2013

Name	of	company Reporting 
period	end

%	holding	
2013

Carrying	
amount

Equity	
accounted	

value

Equity	
accounted	

value

Carrying	
amount

Carrying	
amount

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Adept	Airmotive	(Pty)	Ltd	** 28	Feb 25.00% 25.00% - 414 - -
Azitu	Biotech	(Pty)	Ltd	* 31 Mar 60.00% 60.00% - - - -
Bio	Career	Technology	(Pty)	Ltd	* 28	Feb 51.00% 51.00% - - - -
Bio	Gold	Holdings	(Pty)	Ltd 28	Feb 33.30% 33.30% 2,099 264 3,320 1,658
Blue	Cube	Systems	(Pty)	Ltd 31	Dec 25.00% 25.00% 3,181 3,795 3,013 3,013
Centre	of	Proteomic	&	Genomic	Research	NPC 31 Mar 50.00% 50.00% 3,396 1,055 - -
Citrogold	(Pty)	Ltd 31 Mar 33.30% 33.30% 4,574 3,079 1,488 1,488
Commercial	Aquaculture	(Pty)	Ltd 28	Feb 34.00% 34.00% - - - -
Control	Maze	Trading	(Pty)	Ltd	* 28	Feb 51.00% 51.00% - - - -
Edgi	Tech	(Pty)	Ltd	** 28	Feb 26.00% 26.00% - - - -
Eyeborn	(Pty)	Ltd 31 Mar 25.00% 25.00% - - - -
Femtech	(Pty)	Ltd	* 28	Feb 69.00% 69.00% - - - -
Geratech	Zirconium	Benefication	(Pty)	Ltd	** 28	Feb 48.02% 48.02% - - - -
Inqaba	Biotech	(Pty)	Ltd	**** 28	Feb -% 37.00% - 33.09% - 2,339
Ithemba	Pharmaceuticals	(Pty)	Ltd	* 31	Dec 50.10% 50.10% - - - -
Jirehsa	Medical	(Pty)	Ltd 28	Feb 31.00% 31.00% - - - -
Kapa	Biosystems	(Pty)	Ltd 31	May 49.00% 49.00% 15,722 5,657 - -
LifeAssay	(Pty)	Ltd	** 28	Feb 26.00% 26.00% - - - -
Medupi	Pharma	(Pty)	Ltd	* 28	Feb 59.60% 59.60% - - - -
Mycoroot	(Pty)	Ltd 28	Feb 25.00% 25.00% - - - -
Niocad	(Pty)	Ltd	** 28	Feb 22.00% 22.00% - - - -
Nkomazi	Chemicals	(Pty)	Ltd 30 Jun 35.74% 35.74% - - - -
Nulane	Investments	219	(Pty)	Ltd 28	Feb 26.00% 26.00% - - - -
Optimal	Energy	(Pty)	Ltd	** 28	Feb 33.80% 33.80% - - - -
Ribotech	(Pty)	Ltd 31	Aug 35.00% 35.00% - - - -
Robonica	(Pty)	Ltd 31 Mar 41.00% 41.00% - - - -
Silver	Lake	Trading	(Pty)	Ltd	** 28	Feb 28.00% 28.00% - - - -
Stellenbosch	Wind	Energies	Technologies	(Pty)	Ltd 31 Mar 26.00% 26.00% - 2,600 - 2,600
Tenacent	SA	(Pty)	Ltd 28	Feb 20.00% 20.00% - - - -
Varibox	Holdings	(Pty)	Ltd	*** 28	Feb 26.00% 18.00% 5,067 - 5,068 -
Xsit	(Pty)	Ltd	***** 31 Mar 50.00% 36.00% 6,629 2,651 7,900 3,000

40,668 22,824 20,789 14,098
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8. Investments in associates (continued)

**** The controlling entity sold its share in the company by signing a Share Repurchase agreement on 18 December 2013. 
Approval in line with the PFMA was obtained through the signed materiality and significance framework of the controlling entity.

***** The controlling entity exercised its right to take up additional shares in the current year, following a rights issue by Xsit (Pty) 
Ltd during the 2012/2013 year. 

Movements in carrying value

Principal activities

Legal name Principal activity 
Adept Airmotive (Pty) Ltd Development and commercialisation of general aviation engine 
Azitu Biotech (Pty) Ltd Propagation of plants using tissue culture 
Bio Careers Technology (Pty) Ltd Online career recruitment portal for SA science 
Bio Gold Holdings (Pty) Ltd Commercialisation of PBRs of crop varieties 
Blue Cube Systems (Pty) Ltd Development of real time IT systems for Mining applications 
Citro Gold (Pty) Ltd Commercialisation of PBRs of crop varieties 
Geratech Zirconium Benefication (Pty) Ltd Production of zirconium chemicals and oxides 
Inqaba Biotech (Pty) Ltd DNA sequencing in all disciplines of molecular biology 
Ithemba Pharmaceuticals (Pty) Ltd Developing medicines for urgent health needs 
Kapa Biosystems (Pty) Ltd Manufacture of next generation novel enzymes 
Medupi Pharma (Pty) Ltd Development of a self-sampling device for private cervical cancer 
  screening 
Optimal Energy (Pty) Ltd Development of electrical motor vehicle 
Ribotech (Pty) Ltd Manufacturing of rHOG CSF. Product is used in cancer treatment 
Stellenbosch Wind Energies Technologies (Pty) Ltd Manufacturing unique high quality wind turbines for use in renewable 
  energy electrical power systems 
Varibox Group Holdings (Pty) Ltd Varibox CVT Technologies is an intellectual property company, 
  specialising in the development of alternative positive drive CVT 
  (Continuously Variable Transmission) concepts
Xsit (Pty) Ltd Biocontrol using sterile techniques in citrus industry

All the above entities are incorporated in South Africa

Opening	balance 22,824 16,928 14,098 15,448

Share	of	surplus 12,677 6,883 - -
Acquisition	of	investment	in	associate 11,672 2,600 11,672 2,600
Dividends	received (550) (1,035) - -
Sale	of	Investment	in	associate (3,309) - (2,339) -
Impairment	of	investments	in	associates (2,646) (2,552) (2,642) (3,950)

40,668 22,824 20,789 14,098

For	the	year	ended	31	March	2014

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

																Economic	entity 																Controlling	entity
2014 2013 2014 2013

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
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Summary of controlling entity’s interest in associates 

associates with different reporting dates

A number of associate entities have reporting dates that differ from that of the controlling entity. If the reporting date is 
within a 3 month period of the reporting period end of the controlling entity, the annual financial statements for that period 
will be used in the results of the entity using equity accounting. The management accounts for the entities were reviewed 
in order to ensure that no significant changes took place between reporting date and 31 March 2014.

unrecognised share of losses of associates

The economic entity has discontinued recognising its share of the deficits of associate companies, as the investment is 
held at R nil and the economic entity has no obligation for any deficits of the associate. The total unrecognised deficits 
for the current period amount to R 12,096,624 (2013 : R 27,053,902). The accumulated unrecognised deficits to date 
amount to R 138,733,612 (2013: R 126,636,988).

9. Loans and receivables

associates

Management does not intend to realise these loans within the next 12 months. 

Azitu	Biotech	(Pty)	Ltd																																																																
The	loan	has	no	fixed	repayment	terms	and	accrues	interest	at	
prime	less	4%	for	the	first	5	years	of	the	loan.	After	this	the	loan	
accrues	interest	at	prime.

2,250 2,250 2,250 2,250

Geratech	Zirconium	Benefication	(Pty)	Ltd																																		
The	loan	has	no	fixed	repayment	terms	and	accrues	interest								
at prime plus 3%.

   - - - 1,500

Inqaba	Biotech	(Pty)	Ltd																																																													
The	loan	has	no	fixed	repayment	terms	and	accrues	interest	at	the	
prime interest rate.

- 1,683 - 1,683

Xsit	(Pty)	Ltd																																																																															
The	loan	has	no	fixed	repayment	terms	and	accrues	interest	at	
prime plus 1% 

8,109 8,109 8,109 8,109

10,359 12,042 10,359 13,542

2014 2013
R '000 R '000

Total assets 257,100 226,198
Total	liabilities (384,527) (368,545
Net	assets/(liabilities) (127,427) (142,347)
Revenue 205,411 148,752
Surplus/(deficit) 2,073 (36,578)

																Economic	entity 																Controlling	entity
2014 2013 2014 2013

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
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9. Loans and receivables (continued)

other entities

Management does not intend to realise the loans within the next 12 months.
 
Carrying amounts of Loans and receivables are shown net of impairment losses.

Loans and Receivables include the following categories:

loans to associates and other entities impaired

As of 31 March 2014, loans to associates and other entities of R122,310,724 (2013: R111,163,382) were impaired and 
provided for. The movement from prior year to current year includes the deregistration of previously impaired investee 
companies as well as current year impairment.

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have been included in operating expenses in the statement 
of financial performance. Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when the recovery of such 
amounts is improbable.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of each class of loan mentioned above. 
The economic entity does not hold collateral as security.

Altis	Biologics	(Pty)	Ltd																																																																								
This	loan	has	no	fixed	repayment	terms	and	accrues	interest	at	the	
prime interest rate.

- 693 - 693

Balancell	(Pty)	Ltd																																																																							
The	loan	bears	interest	at	prime	and	interest	repayments	will	
commence	18	months	after	first	drawdown.	Capital	will	become	
repayable	42	months	after	first	drawdown.

3,104 - 3,104 -

Cipla	Medpro																																																																													
This	loan	has	no	fixed	repayment	terms	and	does	not	accrue	
interest.

- 1,000 - 1,000

SA	Cardiosynthetics	(Pty)	Ltd 13,266 - 13,266 -
The	loan	bears	interest	at	Prime	+	10%	and	is	repayble	on	demand	
after	36	months,	over	a	period	of	60	months.

16,370 1,693 16,370 1,693

Loans	to	associates 10,359 12,042 10,359 13,542
Loans	to	other	entities 16,370 1,693 16,370 1,693

26,729 13,735 26,729 15,235

For	the	year	ended	31	March	2014

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

																Economic	entity 																Controlling	entity
2014 2013 2014 2013

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
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10. Other financial assets

* Shareholding increased to a significant interest and is now disclosed under note 8 as an associate.

11. Finance lease obligation

It is the economic entity’s policy to lease certain office equipment under finance leases. 

The average lease term is 5 years and the average effective borrowing rate was 14% (2013: 25%). 

Interest rates are linked to prime at the contract date. All leases have fixed repayments and no arrangements have been 
entered into for contingent rent. 

The	Biologicals	and	Vaccines	Institute	of	SA	(Pty)	Ltd 40,572 40,572 40,572 40,572
Varibox	Holdings	(Pty)	Ltd	* - 3,274 - 3,274

40,572 43,846 40,572 43,846

Minimum lease payments due
-	within	one	year 318 127 318 127
-	in	second	to	fifth	year	inclusive 202 - 202 -

520 127 520 127
Less:	future	finance	charges (62) (13) (62) (13)

Present value of minimum lease payments 458 114 458 114

Present value of minimum lease payments due
-	within	one	year 270 114 270 114
-	in	second	to	fifth	year	inclusive 188 - 188 -

458 114 458 114

																Economic	entity 																Controlling	entity
2014 2013 2014 2013

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
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12. Trade and other payables

13. Loans from shareholders

14. committed conditional grants and receipts

committed conditional grant balances comprise of:

15. revenue from non exchange transactions

Trade	payables 9,629 20,618 7,432 17,695
Employee	related	accruals 7,244 10,919 6,918 10,511
Other	payables 3,632 3,025 2,543 2,428

20,505 34,562 16,893 30,634

These	loans	are	non-interest	bearing	and	have	no	fixed	repayment	
terms.

2,618 2,249 - -

Bio fuels 1,441 5,402 1,441 5,402
ICT	flagship	program 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000
Limpopo	Agri	Food	Technology	Station 1,060 - 1,060 -
Sugarcane 1,613 4,299 1,613 4,299
Advanced	Manufacturing	Technology	Strategy 1,594 7,024 1,594 7,024
Alternative	Energy 258 250 258 250
Technology	Station	Program 17 7,299 17 7,299
Technology	Station	Expansion	Program 404 - 404 -

9,387 27,274 9,387 27,274

DST	allocation	received	during	the	year 481,081 456,350 481,081 456,350
Committed	conditional	grant	funding	recognised	for:
South	African	TB	Research	and	Innovation	Initiative - 7,444 - 7,444
Bio fuels 5,676 11,081 5,676 11,081
Sugarcane 3,113 2,340 3,113 2,340
Advanced	Manufacturing	Technology	Strategy 5,470 - 5,470 -
Technology	Station	Program 7,588 - 7,588 -
Technology	Station	Expansion	Program 40,144 - 40,144 -
South	African	HIV	Research	and	Innovation	Platform - 2,427 - 2,427
South African Malaria Institute - 770 - 770
Other - 140 - -

543,072 480,552 543,072 480,412

For	the	year	ended	31	March	2014

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

																Economic	entity 																Controlling	entity
2014 2013 2014 2013

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
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16. Other income

17. Investment income

18. Employee related costs

19. Project funding expenditure

Project funding expenditure are made up of the following:

* Included in Contracted conditional grant spend is R47 731 828 spend on the Technology Station program.

Royalties	received 644 966 644 966
Other	income 10,014 6,915 126 1,278
EWSETA	-	Training	subsidy 680 2,284 680 2,284
Profit	on	deregistration	of	controlled	entity - 172 - -
Limpopo Grant - 1,442 - 1,442
Management fees - 2,000 - 2,000
Profit	on	sale	of	investment 476 - 476 -

11,814 13,779 1,926 7,970

dividends received
Received	from	associates - - 550 1,035

interest earned
Interest	earned	-	Loans	and	receivables 1,187 5,348 1,187 5,649
Interest	earned	-	Bank 21,506 25,387 21,217 25,087
Interest	received	-	Loans	and	receivables 771 1,952 771 1,952

23,464 32,687 23,175 32,688

Remuneration 134,542 120,231 117,781 107,267
Post-employment	benefits	-	Pension	-	Defined	contribution	plan 7,526 3,598 7,526 3,598

142,068 123,829 125,307 110,865

Project	grants	-	third	party 330,655 310,916 345,435 324,912

Technology Development 79,245 55,081 94,025 69,077
Technology Innovation programme 2,221 90,863 2,221 90,863
Technology Station programme * 56,966 78,683 56,966 78,683
Technology Platform programme 56,509 43,843 56,509 43,843
Seed fund 26,871 - 26,871 -
Regional Innovation programme 35,000 - 35,000 -
Other 15,937 18,384 15,937 18,384
Contracted conditional grant spend * 57,906 24,062 57,906 24,062

330,655 310,916 345,435 324,912

																Economic	entity 																Controlling	entity
2014 2013 2014 2013

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
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20. Impairment of investments

21. Other operating expenses

Included in other operating expenses are the following:

22. Taxation

The controlling entity is exempt from income tax in terms of the provisions of section 10(1)(cA)(i) of the Income Tax Act.

23. Net cash flows used in operating activities

Impairment	of	Financial	assets	at	cost 4,115 5,622 2,642 7,020
Impairment	of	Financial	assets	at	amortised	cost 13,570 6,900 13,155 12,599
Debts	impaired - 43 - 38

17,685 12,565 15,797 19,657

Auditors	remuneration 1,477 2,254 1,274 1,664
Consulting	and	professional	fees 26,116 17,885 23,836 16,546
Consumables 2,021 1,085 2,021 1,085
Lease rentals on operating lease 11,133 11,500 10,357 10,481
Placement fees 1,267 3,264 1,267 3,264
Training 5,104 4,839 4,973 4,794
Travel	and	accomodation 14,196 16,972 14,082 16,961
Electricity 2,502 2,874 2,338 2,691
Sponsorships 2,485 4,137 2,485 4,137

Deficit (18,626) (49,120) (16,872) (53,739)
adjustments for:
Depreciation	and	amortisation 11,096 13,005 10,711 10,700
Assets	written	off 6,824 523 345 164
Income from equity accounted investments (12,390) (418) - -
Dividends	received 550 1,035 - -
Impairment	on	investments 17,685 12,565 15,797 19,657
Taxation 281 115 - -
Profit	on	sale	of	investment - (24) - (24)
Interest	on	loan	accounts (1,366) (6,996) (1,368) (6,664)
changes in working capital:
Trade	and	other	receivables (1,611) (316) (1,986) (712)
Trade	and	other	payables (14,542) 11,993 (13,707) 13,060
Income	received	in	advance - (180) - (180)

(12,099) (17,818) (7,080) (17,738)

																Economic	entity 																Controlling	entity
2014 2013 2014 2013

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

For	the	year	ended	31	March	2014

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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24. related parties

related party balances

relationships 
Members Refer to members’ report note  
Controlled entities Refer to note 7 
Associates Refer to note 8 
National Department Ministry of Science and Technology 
National Government Business Enterprises Council for Scientific and Industrial Research 
National Public Entities Agricultural Research Council/Onderstepoort Biological Products SOC

2014 2013
R '000 R '000

loan accounts - owing to related parties
ACRO	-	Batswadi	Pharmaceuticals	(Pty)	Ltd (2,625) (2,625)
Cape	Gourmet	Mushrooms	-	H	Henderson - (55)
NCSA	-	Gradchem	Solutions	CC - (82)

committed conditional grants
Ministry	of	Science	and	Technology (9,387) (27,274)

loan accounts - owing to related parties
ACRO	-	Batswadi	Pharmaceuticals	(Pty)	Ltd - 380

related party transactions

interest received from related parties
TIA	-	Interest	received	from	associates (771) (5,324)

Sales to related parties
ACRO	-	Batswadi	Pharmaceuticals	(Pty)	Ltd - (2)

royalties received from related parties
TIA	-	Royalties	received	from	associates (490) (804)

dividends received from related parties
TIA	-	Dividends	received	from	associates (550) (1,035)

allocations received
TIA	-	Ministry	of	Science	and	Technology (543,072) (480,412)

Management fees earned
TIA	-	Ministry	of	Science	and	Technology - (2,000)

Grants disbursed
TIA	-	Council	for	Scientific	and	Industrial	Research 7,785 17,933
TIA	-	Agricultural	Research	Council 4,257 2,000
TIA	-	Grants	disbursed	to	associates 23,033 27,946

Bad debts written off
ACRO	-	Batswadi	Pharmaceuticals	(Pty)	Ltd 110 -



106An initiative of the Department of Science and Technology

25. Members’ emoluments 

executive
2014

* Allowances include the following: Cell phone, Car, Acting, Travel and Subsistence.

2013

* The controlling entity’s executive committee (Exco) was restructured in April 2012. The emoluments for members not 
serving on the new Exco is only disclosed for April 2012.

Emoluments Annual	Bonus Allowances* Other Total

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
tia
Mr	S	Duma	(CEO)	(dismissed	on	31/03/2014) 1,726 - 211 - 1,937
Ms	B	Kortjass	(CFO)	(dismissed	on	31/03/2014) 1,681 - 24 - 1,705
Ms	M	Mkhwanazi 1,326 111 204 - 1,641
Mr	N	Ndou	(to	28/02/2014) 1,090 103 64 605 1,862
Ms P Maruping 1,578 123 228 - 1,929
Mr	W	van	der	Merwe	(from	22/09/2013) 653 96 107 - 856
Mr	M	Ntshangase	(from	01/01/2014)	 197 - 26 - 223
Dr	S	Gumbi 1,495 110 47 - 1,652
Adv	T	Polaki 963 - 18 - 981
Mr	MI	Mazibuko	(COO) 1,752 - 194 - 1,946
acro
Ms	M	Richardson 1,423 - - - 1,423

13,884 543 1,123 605 16,155

Emoluments Bonus Allowances** Other Total

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
tia
Mr	S	Duma	(CEO) 1,577 168 286 22 2,053
Ms	B	Kortjass	(CFO) 1,539 145 22 19 1,725
Dr	B	Gumede	* 90 - 2 - 92
Dr	J	Chantson	* 91 - 1 59 151
Adv	T	Polaki	(from	01/09/2012) 515 - 7 11 533
Ms	M	Mkhwanazi 1,109 97 225 16 1,447
Mr	N	Rassool	* 70 - 11 - 81
Mr	N	Ndou 1,094 103 147 13 1,357
Ms P Maruping 1,446 145 139 19 1,749
Dr	S	Ntutela	* 89 - 1 - 90
Dr	B	Okole	* 110 - - - 110
Mr	W	van	der	Merwe	* 101 - 1 - 102
Adv	A	Maisela	* 63 - 6 - 69
Dr	S	Gumbi	(from	01/04/2012) 1,388 - 45 17 1,450
Mr	MI	Mazibuko	(COO)	(from	01/10/2012) 805 - 19 17 841
acro
Ms	M	Richardson 1,386 - - - 1,386
Executive	director 209 - - - 209

11,682 658 912 193 13,445

For	the	year	ended	31	March	2014

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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** Allowances include the following: Cell phone, Car, Acting, Travel and Subsistance.

Board
2014

*The Board of the controlling entity’s term started on 01/05/2013.

2013

* Ms L Milne was a co-opted member of the Audit and Risk committee. Mr M van Olst was a co-opted member of the 
Investment committee during the financial year.

Committees	
fees

Other	fees Total

R '000 R '000 R '000
tia
Ms	K	Njobe	* 171 8 179
Ms	H	Brown	* 126 - 126
Mr	F	Hendricks	* 153 - 153
Prof	D	Kaplan	* 159 2 161
Dr	S	Lennon	* 129 - 129
Dr	B	Mehlomakulu	* 125 - 125
Adv	M	Ralefatane	* 134 1 135
Ms	R	Xaba	* 123 1 124
Mr	M	Moolla	* - 5 5
Dr	P	Terblanche	* 140 1 141
Mr	R	Norton	(to	30/04/2013) - 7 7
acro (non-executive directors)
Mr	D	du	Toit 40 - 40
Mr	C	Whitfield 44 - 44

1,344 25 1,369

Members'	fees Other	fees Total

R '000 R '000 R '000
tia
Dr	M	Ramphele 156 4 160
Dr	P	Ngwenya 155 - 155
Ms	C	Carolus 64 - 64
Prof	S	Harrison	(to	15/05/2013) 37 - 37
Dr	S	Cornelius 218 - 218
Ms	H	Brown 100 - 100
Ms	M	Pyoos 123 - 123
Mr	I	Lax 285 - 285
Mr R Norton 296 1 297
Ms	F	Roji 238 1 239
Ms	L	Milne	*	(to	31/01/2013) 96 - 96
Mr	M	van	Olst	* 90 9 99
acro (non-executive directors)
Mr	D	du	Toit 21 - 21
Mr	C	Whitfield 42 - 42

1,921 15 1,936
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26. contingencies 

contingent liabilities

Legal proceedings

The controlling entity received a claim from an effected party for damages to the value of R3 240 610, for a bid awarded. 
The award was retracted after consultation with the Board. Management opposed the claim, but the case has not been
 finalised.

Seed fund commitments 

The controlling entity entered into agreements with Higher Education Institutions to the value of R23 291 429 that were 
not paid at period end. Should the Board of the controlling entity approve the additional allocation to the Seed Fund 
Program the money will be disbursed to them. At the date of this report, the approval was uncertain.

roll over of funds

In terms of section 53(3) of the PFMA an entity may not accumulate surpluses unless prior written approval is obtained 
from National Treasury. For the 2013/2014 financial year, the controlling entity will apply to retain accumulated funds. 
The financial impact of the final outcome of this application on the financial statements as well as the timing of the 
potential outflow of economic benefit could not be determined at period end. TIA have not received approval for the 
2012/2013 financial year. 

Project funding

Project funding in terms of funding agreements.

These agreements will be funded using surplus cash and funds to be allocated in the financial periods in which these 
agreements become payable.

contingent assets

controlling entity:

The controlling entity invested funds to the value of R5 381 739 with Corporate Money Managers (Pty) Ltd, which was 
placed under curatorship in previous periods. At the date of this report no finality has been reached on claims instated 
against the fund.

Funding	agreements 189,882 130,023 193,888 147,077
Funding	approved	not	yet	contracted 17,146 - 17,146 -

207,028 130,023 211,034 147,077

For	the	year	ended	31	March	2014

																Economic	entity 																Controlling	entity
2014 2013 2014 2013

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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27. commitments

authorised capital expenditure

This committed expenditure relates to office equipment and computer software and will be financed with available funds.

operating leases - as lessee (expense)

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the economic entity for certain of its offices. Leases are 
negotiated for an average term of five years and rentals are fixed for an average of three years. No contingent rent 
is payable.

28. risk management

capital risk management

The economic entity’s objectives when managing capital is to safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern in 
order to provide benefits to its stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The capital structure of the economic entity consists of cash and cash equivalents disclosed in note 4 and reserves as 
disclosed in the statement of financial position.

There are no externally imposed capital requirements and there were no changes in what the entity does to manage 
capital.

Financial risk management

The economic entity’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, foreign 
currency risk and cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

already contracted for but not provided for
-	Property,	plant	and	equipment 213 2,361 213 2,361
-	Intangible	assets 1,380 588 1,380 588

1,593 2,949 1,593 2,949

Minimum lease payments due
-	within	one	year 9,489 8,939 8,853 8,349
-	in	second	to	fifth	year	inclusive 16,474 23,293 14,853 21,036

25,963 32,232 23,706 29,385

																Economic	entity 																Controlling	entity
2014 2013 2014 2013

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
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28. risk management (continued)

liquidity risk

The economic entity manages liquity risk through the compilation and monitoring of cash flow forecasts as well as 
ensuring that there are adequate banking facilities.

The maturity profiles of the financial instruments are summarised as follows:

economic entity

interest rate risk

Changes in interest rates will affect the revenue from exchange transaction revenue stream as the return on investment of 
surplus funds is linked to the prime rate.

Cash flow interest rate risk

Financial instrument Current 
interest 

rate

Due in less 
than a year

Due in 
one to two 

years

Due in two 
to three 

years

Due in 
three to 

four years

Due after 
five years

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Cash	reserves	at	CPD 5.71% 134,191 - - - -
Cash	reserves	at	Standard	Bank	of	South	Africa 4.00% 27,992 - - - -
Other	cash	reserves	at	commercial	banks Various 8,324 - - - -

At	31	March	2014 Less	than	1	
year

Between 1 
and	2	years

Between 2 
and	5	years

Over	5	years

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
Trade	and	other	payables 13,279 - - -
Loans	from	shareholders - - - 2,618
Finance	lease	obligations 270 188 - -

At	31	March	2013 Less	than	1	
year

Between 1 
and	2	years

Between 2 
and	5	years

Over	5	years

Trade	and	other	payables 23,643 - - -
Loans	from	shareholders - - - 2,249
Finance	lease	obligations 114 - - -

controlling entity

At	31	March	2014 Less	than	1	
year

Between 1 
and	2	years

Between 2 
and	5	years

Over	5	years

Trade	and	other	payables 9,993 - - -
Finance	lease	obligations 270 188 - -

At	31	March	2013 Less	than	1	
year

Between 1 
and	2	years

Between 2 
and	5	years

Over	5	years

Trade	and	other	payables 20,123 - - -
Finance	lease	obligations 114 - - -

For	the	year	ended	31	March	2014

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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credit risk

Potential concentrations of credit risk consist mainly of cash and cash equivalents and trade receivables. The economic 
entity limits its counterparty exposures from its bank accounts by investing surplus funds with well established financial 
institutions with a high quality credit standing. The credit exposure to any one counterparty is managed by monitoring 
transactions. Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluates credit risk relating 
to customers on an ongoing basis. At year end 31 March 2014, the economic entity did not consider there to be any 
significant concentration of credit risk which had not been adequately impaired. The amount in the statement of financial 
position is the maximum exposure to credit risk.

Loans and receivables, investment in controlled entities, investment in associates and other investments consist 
mainly of funding granted to start up companies. The exposure to credit risk is managed through ongoing review of the 
operating results and financial position of the investee companies. Should the entity have doubt over the recoverability of 
the loan or the value of the investment, the loan/investment is impaired and further funding is carefully considered.

Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year end were as follows:

The entity has little doubt over the recoverability of Trade and other receivables not considered to be impaired at year 
end.

The entity has reviewed the financial position of each of the entities where they have not impaired the loan disbursed 
or investment made to the investee company and based on this, management is of the opinion that at period end the 
amount is recoverable.

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign currency exposure arises from the sale of goods by entities within the economic entity.

The economic entity does not hedge foreign exchange fluctuations.

A controlled entity, ACRO, operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency 
exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollar and the Euro. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial 
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net investment in foreign operations.

The economic entity reviews its foreign currency exposure, including commitments on an ongoing basis. 
 

Cash	and	cash	equivalents 170,517 242,243 162,194 228,712
Trade	and	other	receivables 6,350 5,872 3,416 2,914
Loans	and	receivables 26,729 13,735 26,729 15,235

																Economic	entity 																Controlling	entity
2014 2013 2014 2013

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
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29. Irregular expenditure

Economic entity: The 13 controlled entities were inherited when the trusts (Biopad, Lifelab, Plantbio, Thumisano, 
Innovation Fund, Cape Biotech Trust) were combined to form TIA. The entities were not set up to comply with the detail 
requirements of Treasury Regulation 16A6.1. The controlling entity is continuing to exit these entities and of the original 13 
only 4 are remaining.

controlling entity: Treasury Regulation 16A6.1 states that the procurement of goods and services should be through 
way of quotation, using the Preferential Point system for amounts exceeding R30 000 or through a bidding process where 
the amount exceeds R500 000. Some expenditure incurred did not follow these requirements.The result of a forensic 
investigation indicated some violations of the supply chain policy leading to the majority of the irregular expenses. 
Disciplinary actions were taken against staff involved, where appropriate. Controls were put in place to prevent further 
irregular expenditure.

The policy and procedures were not adhered to in the appointment of a staff member and executive training provided.

The Board of the controlling entity approved an amount of R25 000 000 for a seed fund to bridge the gap between 
research and commercialisation. The launch of the initiative to Higher Education Institutions was received very positively, 
resulting in an oversubscription amounting to R25 161 429, of which an amount of R1 870 000 was incorrectly paid. The 
remaining amount remains unpaid pending a Board decision (also refer to note 26).

The Board of the controlling entity did not approve the execution of the Regional Innovation Programme paid to Regional 
Innovation agencies. Payments amounting to R35 000 000 were made to these entities.

30. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Opening	balance 10,614 4,423 2,662 -
Incurred	by	controlled	entities 1,832 3,529 - -
Incurred	by	controlling	entity 50,603 2,662 50,603 2,662
Less:	Amount	written	off	as	not	recoverable	by	the	Board (47,461) - (47,461)
Less:	Controlled	entities	deregistered (2,168) - -

13,420 10,614 5,804 2,662

Opening	balance 635 68 371 -
Fruitless	and	wasteful	expenses	incurred	by	controlled	entities 1 196 - -
Fruitless	and	wasteful	expenses	incurred	by	controlling	entity 6 371 6 371
Less:	Amount	written	off	as	not	recoverable	by	the	Board (6) - (6) -
Less:	Controlled	entities	deregistered (206) - - -

430 635 371 371

For	the	year	ended	31	March	2014

Economic	entity Controlling	entity
2014 2013 2014 2013

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Economic	entity Controlling	entity
2014 2013 2014 2013

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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economic entity: The nature of the expenses that could have been avoided are interest and penalties on PAYE for two 
controlled entities which were subsequently deregistered.

controlling entity: Fruitless and wasteful expenditure for the current year relate to interest charged on Telkom invoices 
during the year. Management has exhausted all avenues of trying to recover the amount from Telkom. Controls were put in 
place to ensure that this does not reoccur in future.

The Board of the controlling entity approved that Fruitless and wasteful expenses of R6 267 be written off as irrecoverable 
after due process was followed in terms of the Guideline on Fruitless and Wasteful expenses as issued by National Treasury 
in May 2014.

31. Losses through criminal conduct

controlling entity: Losses relate to laptops stolen from its employees. Insurance claims were lodged to minimise the 
losses. The losses recovered also includes insurance claims submitted in 2012/2013 only paid in 2013/2014.

32. Budget differences

Material differences between budget and actual amounts

The cash surplus in the controlling entity carried over from the financial year 2012/2013 resulted in the budget being revised 
and approved by the Board to utilise the surplus cash. These changes have been noted under adjustments in the Statement 
of Comparison of Budget and Actual amounts.

32.1. Revenue for non-exchange transactions exceeded the budget due to committed conditional grants recognised 
 during the year. 
32.2. Other income, interest received and dividends received were not budgeted for in the 2013/2014 financial year. 
 For detail refer to note 16.
32.3. With the revision of the strategy the Venture Capital Fund and the Open Skies Development Fund budgeted for to 
 the amount of R147 million was cancelled. The controlling entity enters into agreements covering multiple periods, 
 up to 5 years. Due to the high risk nature of the funding, milestones set are not always met or not met on time which
 leads to a deferral of payment.
32.4.  Impairment losses were not included in the budget intially submitted, as the controlling entity evaluates the
 performance of its investments on an annual basis. The expected impairment cannot be determined before this.
32.5. The underspend amount can be attributed to cost saving initiatives undertaken by the controlling entity, such as 
 travel costs, IT expenses, marketing expenses and consulting fees.

losses through criminal conduct
Losses	during	the	financial	year 50 39 50 39
Losses	recovered (73) - (73) -

(23) 39 (23) 39

																Economic	entity 																Controlling	entity
2014 2013 2014 2013

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
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ABET Adult Basic Education and Training
ADME Absorption, Distribution, Metabolism and Excretion
AGV Autonomously Guided Vehicle
AMD Acid Mine Drainage
AMTL Advanced Manufacturing Technology Laboratory (TIA–Adaptronics)
APP Annual Performance Plan
ARC Agricultural Research Council
BCRE Bayworld Centre for Research and Education
BMF Black Management Forum
BMGF Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation
BSA Biosafety South Africa
CAS Cellular Anti-Theft System
CATU Cable Anti-Theft Unit
CDTI Centre for the Development of Industrial Technology (Spain)
CAD Computer Aided Design
CAM Computer Aided Manufacturing
CGA Citrus Growers Association
Chemin UKZN Chemical Technology Incubator
CNC Computer Numerical Control
CoC Centre of Competence
CPGR Centre for Proteomic and Genomic Research
CPUT Cape Peninsula University of Technology
CSF Commercialisation Support Fund
CVT Continuously Variable Transmission
DEA Department of Environmental Affairs
DNA Deoxyribonucleic Acid
DST Department of Science and Technology
DUT Durban University of Technology
dti Department of Trade and Industry
EDM Electrical Discharge Machining
eGoliBio Life Sciences Incubator
eNtsa Technology Station in Automotive Components
EPC Electrical Power Circuit
EPL Electronic Price Labelling System
EPWP Expanded Public Works Programme
EU European Union
EU FP 7 European Union 7 th Framework Programme for Research and Technological Development
EWSETA Energy and Water Sector Education and Training Authority
FEA Fine Element Analysis
FET Further Education and Training
FCM False Codling Moth
FP7 Framework Programme 7 (EU)
GHG Greenhouse Gas
GMO Genetically Modified Organism

Acronyms and Abbreviations 
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GRACE GMO Risk Assessment and Communication of Evidence project
HEI Higher Education Institution
HMI Human Machine Interface
HR Human Resource
IAT Institute of Advanced Tooling
ICGEB International Centre for Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology (UCT)
IDC Industrial Development Corporation
IDP Individual Development Plan
IDC VC SBU Industrial Development Corporation’s Venture Capital Strategic Business Unit
ICGEB International Centre for Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology (UCT)
IEETR KwaZulu-Natal Industrial Energy Efficient Training and Resource Centre (DUT)
IFT Innovation Fund Trust
IIE Institute of International Education
IMT Institute for Maritime Technology
Invotech Innovation Technology Incubator (DUT)
IP Intellectual Property
IEETR Industrial Energy Efficient Training & Resource Centre (Durban University of Technology)
IIE Institute of International Education
IPA Innovation Prize for Africa
ISD Innovation Skills Development
ISDP Innovation Skills Development Programme
JDA Johannesburg Development Agency
KPI Key Performance Indicators
MTDC Malaysian Technology Development Cooperation
MRC Medical Research Council
MRI Magnetic Resonance Imaging
MTEF Medium-Term Expenditure Framework
NDP National Development Plan 2030
NGS Next-Generation DNA Sequencing
NMMU Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University
NMP National Metabolomics Platform
NMR Nuclear Magnetic Resonance
NRF National Research Foundation
NSI National System of Innovation
NTIP National Tooling Initiative Programme
NWU North West University
PAA Public Audit Act of South Africa  
PBR Plant Breeders Rights
PCR Polymerase Chain Reaction
PFMA Public Finance Management Act, No. 29 of 1999
PCR Polymerase Chain Reaction
PTIP Photovoltaic Technology Intellectual Property
PV Photovoltaic
RAN Resilient Africa Network
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RFID Radio Frequency Identification
SABS South African Bureau of Standards
SANEDI South African National Energy Development Institute
SC Science Council
SF Seed Fund
SIT Sterile Insect Technology
SMEs Small and Medium Enterprises
SMME Small, Medium and Micro Enterprise
SMRI Sugar Milling and Research Institute
SSPMG Slip-Synchronous Permanent Magnet Generator
STEMI Science Technology Engineering Entrepreneurship Maths Innovation Programmes
SUN Stellenbosch University
SWET Stellenbosch Wind Energy Technologies
TASA Toolmaking Association of South Africa
TDF Technology Development Fund
TDM Tool, Die and Mould
TDS Tiisetso Development Solutions (Pty) Ltd
TEG Tongaat Hulett Technology Engineering Group
TIA Technology Innovation Agency
TIP Technology Innovation Programme
TRL Technology Readiness Level
TS Technology Station
TSCT Technology Station in Clothing and Textiles
TSP  Technology Stations Programme
TSRMP Technology Station in Reinforced and Moulded Plastics
TTO Technology Transfer Office
TUT Tshwane University of Technology
UCT University of Cape Town
UJ University of Johannesburg
UKZN University of KwaZulu-Natal
USPTO  United States Patent and Trademark Office
UWC University of the Western Cape
VUT Vaal University of Technology
WMS Warehouse Management System
YTIP Youth Technology Innovation Programme

Acronyms and Abbreviations continued
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